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Business review

China's economy began to slow down in 2018, with GDP rising 6.6%
for the year, the slowest since 1990. Despite the slower growth,
China’s wind power industry continues to grow as the government
seeks cleaner sources of energy. While total power consumption
increased by 8.5%, wind power generation capacity increased by 12 %
and solar power generation capacity increased by 34%.

During 2018, China continued to implement favourable policies for
China's renewable energy sector as it targets non-fossil fuels to account
for 15% of energy consumption by 2020 and 20% by 2030. In July
2018, China’s State Council announced a new “2018-2020 Three-year
Action Plan for Winning the Blue Sky War"”. This plan expands pollution
controls to 82 cities across China. To achieve the government'’s goals,
renewable energy and natural gas will be emphasized over polluting
coal power.

In December 2018, the National Development and Reform Commission
announced a plan to launch a renewable energy quota system. The
system will assign certain renewable energy consumption targets for
each region. Companies covered by the plan will receive renewable
energy certificates when they buy renewable energy and will be forced
to buy additional certificates if they fail to reach their targets.

Even without the latest measures, nationwide wind power utilization
hours are increasing as curtailment rates have been dropping from
17% in 2016 to 12% in 2017 and 6% in 2018. Solar power curtailment
has declined from 7% in 2017 to 3% in 2018. Curtailment has been
declining as previous measures have proven effective. Among those
earlier measures: construction of new transmission lines; restriction
on new projects in the heavily curtailed Northern provinces; and
requirements for provinces to reach certain minimum utilization rates.

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (“CRE" or the “Company”,
and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is benefitting from
all these developments. The overall curtailment rate at its wind farms
has dropped from 10% in 2016 to 9% in 2017 and 7% in 2018. In 2018,
the Group’s wind farms generated an average of 2,064 utilization hours,
similar to the national average.
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Business review (continued)

The Group recorded revenue of HK$149.5 million, an increase of 14%
compared to 2017. Gross profit increased 14% to HK$51.9 million.
Profits from the Group’s associate companies were relatively stable.
However, the Group was adversely affected by a HK$4.2 million
exchange loss due to a 5.1% depreciation of the Renminbi (“RMB").
As a result, net profit attributable to equity holders of the Group rose
only 3% to HK$62.3 million or basic earnings of HK2.54 cents per share.
The Group had total assets of HK$2,525.4 million as of 31 December
2018 and its cash position remained healthy, with cash in the bank of
HK$207.6 million. Net asset value per share, defined as total equity
of the Group divided by total number of ordinary shares in issue, was
HK68.9 cents.

Prospects

With the new policies, curtailment is expected to continue declining,
and the government should easily reach its target curtailment rate of
5% by 2020. This should have a positive impact on CRE's wind farms
for the next couple of years.

In addition, the Group’s available capacity is expected to increase
sharply this year, with the completion of its 74 Mega-Watt (“MW")
Songxian wind farm in Henan province. Construction has been delayed
by a couple of months but is expected to be completed by the first
half of 2019. So far, about half of the turbines have been connected to
the grid and are generating power. Upon completion, the project will
increase CRE's net capacity by approximately 21%.

The Group has also received approval from the Luoyang Development
and Reform Commission to construct an additional 40 MW of
wind power at Songxian. The Group is now waiting to get the grid
interconnection approval.

In May 2018, there was concern over China's plans to cut tariff
subsidies for future wind and solar power projects by allocating new
projects through a new bidding process that would put renewable
energy in direct competition with coal-fired power plants. However,
the industry is benefiting from lower investment costs, which is
now average RMB7,300-7,500/Kilo-Watt (“KW"), a sharp decrease
compared to the RMB9,400/KW average in 2009. Investment costs
are expected to continue dropping over the next couple of years, and
if it reaches RMB6,500/KW, it would put wind costs at parity with coal-
fired power plants. At this point, demand for wind power is expected to
increase, even without tariff subsidies.
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Prospects (continued)
The Group has a wind power pipeline of over 1.1 Giga-Watt in Inner
Mongolia. The Group has not tapped into this pipeline given high
curtailment in the region. But over the long term, as curtailment and
investment costs decline, the pipeline will eventually become more
attractive for the Group.

The Group is also currently exploring investment in distributed solar
projects in China, where we believe we have a competitive advantage
given our parent company, HKC (Holdings) Limited, is a real estate
developer. In 2018, the Group recorded its first full year of revenues
from its first 4 Mega-Watt-peak distributed rooftop solar project in the
Nanxun district of Huzhou City in Zhejiang Province.

The Group is also exploring investing in distributed solar projects in its
hometown, Hong Kong. Under the city’s Scheme of Control Agreement
signed by the government and the city’s two utilities in 2018, the
Feed-in-tariff rates are set at an attractive rate of HK$5/kilo-Watt-hour
("kWh") for systems up to 10 KW; HK$4/kWh for systems larger than
10 KW and up to 200 KW; and HK$3/kWh for systems larger than 200
KW and up to 1 MW. Given these attractive rates, the Group is looking
for appropriate business models to enter into this market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERWR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2018, China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (“CRE" or the “Company”, and with its subsidiaries,
collectively, the “Group”) recorded HK$149.5 million in turnover.
Although wind resources were at similar levels as in 2017, lower overall
curtailment and new contributions from the Group's distributed solar
project has led to a 14% increase in revenue as compared to last year's
HK$131.3 million. With continued effort in controlling operational costs,
the gross profit for the period increased 14% to HK$51.9 million (2017:
HK$45.7 million).

Wind conditions of the Group's wind farms operating under the
associates were similar to last year. As a result, the net profit
contribution from the associates of HK$69.0 million was similar to last
year's HK$67.6 million.

While revenue and gross profit increased in 2018, the Group was
adversely affected by a 5.1% depreciation in the Renminbi (“RMB"),
resulting in a HK$4.2 million exchange loss. As a result, for the year
ended 31 December 2018, net profit after tax attributable to the equity
holders of the Group was only 3% higher compared to the previous
year at HK$62.3 million or basic earnings of HK2.54 cents per share. For
the same period in 2017, net profit after tax attributable to the equity
holders of the Group was HK$60.3 million or basic earnings of HK2.56
cents per share. The slight decrease in basic earnings per share was a
result of a larger share base due to the exercise of bonus warrants.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2018, the Group's total bank borrowings was
HK$506.0 million as compared to HK$440.3 million in 2017. The
difference was mainly due to the net effect of the drawdown of a
bank loan for the Henan Songxian 74 Mega-Watt (“MW") wind project
("Songxian Phase | Wind Farm"), repayment of principal for existing
project loans, drawdown of a new revolving corporate bank loan facility
and currency exchange differences.

The bank borrowings include project loans and a revolving corporate
bank loan facility. Project loans were interest-bearing RMB bank loans
to finance the Group’s wind farm projects in the People’s Republic
of China (“China"”), with interest rates based on the People’'s Bank of
China rates. The revolving corporate bank loan facility was an interest-
bearing HKD bank loan, with interest rate based on the Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate. The maturity dates for the Group's outstanding
bank borrowings were as follows: HK$122.5 million is repayable within
one year, HK$280.8 million repayable within two to five years and
HK$102.7 million repayable after five years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEBIRE DM

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, the Group had restricted cash of HK$2.4
million. Unrestricted bank deposits and cash were HK$205.2 million
as compared to HK$300.1 million in 2017. Such decrease was mainly
due to repayment of a shareholder loan of HK$25.0 million to Creator
Holdings Limited and repayment of project bank loans of HK$85.4
million.

As the majority of the bank borrowings and all incomes are in RMB, no
hedging is required. The Group did not use any financial instruments for
financial hedging purposes during the period under review.

Details of Charges in Group Assets

The Group's subsidiaries have charged their assets including wind
power equipment, prepaid land lease payments and trade receivables,
worth approximately RMB1,002.8 million (equivalent to HK$1,141.8
million) as security for the bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018.
Assets, worth approximately RMB786.9 million (equivalent to HK$943.9
million), were charged as at 31 December 2017. The difference was
due to the depreciation of assets, fluctuation of the RMB currency and
a higher pledge on construction in progress for the Songxian Phase |
Wind Farm.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s net gearing ratio, defined as the
total borrowings plus the amount due to a shareholder, less unrestricted
bank deposits and cash, divided by total equity, was 29% as compared
t0 21% as at 31 December 2017.

Contingent Liabilities
The Group did not have any contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2018 (Nil as at 31 December 2017).
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BUSINESS REVIEW

While China’s economy is slowing down, total power consumption in
China continues to grow, reaching 6,844,900 Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh"),
representing an increase of 8.5% as compared to 2017. However, wind
and solar power generation capacity grew even more. An aggregate
total of 184 Giga-Watt (“GW") wind power capacity and 174 GW solar
power capacity were installed, increasing by 12% and 34 % respectively
as compared to 2017. Total wind power output was 366,000GWh, an
increase of around 20% compared to 2017, accounting for 5.2% of
total power generation across the country. Total solar power output
was 177,500GWh, an increase of around 50% compared to 2017,
accounting for 2.5% of total power generation across the country.

The Group has seven wind farms and one distributed solar project under
operation with a total gross power generating capacity of 664 MW.
Adhering to the general principle of making progress and optimization
in a steady way, we have continually improved the operations of our
existing wind farms, reducing costs and curtailment. As a result, our
operational wind farms were able to achieve higher levels of power
generation and utilization hours, dispatching a total of 1,362.2 GWh as
compared to 1,325.2 GWh in 2017. The average utilization hours of our
wind portfolio reached 2,064 hours (2,010 hours in 2017), similar to the
national average.

We continue to make progress on the development and construction
of new projects. Songxian Phase | Wind Farm is under construction
and about half of the project is now connected to the grid. Construction
costs of the project are under control, and quality and safety standards
have been met. The project will be commissioned by stages starting
from early 2019. Completion of the project will increase the Group's
total gross power generating capacity by 11% to 738 MW.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

In addition, the Group obtained approval from the National Development
and Reform Commission (“NDRC") for an additional phase two of the
Songxian project (“Songxian Phase || Wind Farm”). Preparation for this
40 MW wind farm is underway and construction preparation is under
planning. Construction is expected to begin in late 2019 or early 2020
and operations to begin in early 2021. After the completion and full
operation of the Songxian Phase Il Wind Farm, the Group's total gross
power generating capacity is expected to increase by an additional 5%
to 778 MW.

Mudanjiang and Muling Wind Farms

Mudanjiang and Muling wind farms, located in Heilongjiang province,
have a total of 59.5 MW of wind power capacity. The wind farms started
commercial operation in the fourth quarter of 2007. The Group holds
majority stakes of 86% and 86.7% respectively. Power dispatch in 2018
was approximately 76.9GWh, which was equivalent to 1,293 utilization
hours. Although wind resources were similar to last year, curtailment
was reduced significantly due to various implemented policies;
therefore, performance was better compared to last year’'s dispatch of
72.3GWh (equivalent to 1,215 utilization hours).

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il Wind Farms

Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms have a total of 99 MW of wind
power capacity and are wholly-owned by the Group. They are located
16 kilometres north of Wulanhua under Siziwang Qi of Western Inner
Mongolia. Commercial operation of Phase | and Il started in January
2011 and January 2015 respectively. The wind farms are the first two
phases of a strategic 1,000 MW wind farm base for the Group. In 2018,
Siziwang Qi Phase | & Il wind farms dispatched power of approximately
191.4GWh, which was equivalent to 1,933 utilization hours. Although
wind resources were slightly less than last year, performance was
actually significantly higher than last year’s dispatch of 166.2 GWH
(equivalent to 1,679 utilization hours). The improvement was due to an
enhancement in our operation and maintenance strategy, resulting in
higher power generation and reduced curtailment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Danjinghe Wind Farm

The Group has a 40% effective equity interest in the 200 MW
Danjinghe wind farm located in Hebei. The majority and controlling
shareholder is the wind power division of China Energy Conservation
and Environmental Protection Group (“CECEP"), which holds 60%.
The entire wind farm commenced commercial operation in September
2010. The power dispatched in 2018 was approximately 420.2GWh,
which was equivalent to 2,101 utilization hours. As this project was
obtained through the national tendering process, the wind farm enjoyed
minimal curtailment. As wind resources were slightly better than last
year, together with improved operational efficiencies, the performance
was slightly better compared to last year’s dispatch of 415.3GWh
(equivalent to 2,076 utilization hours).

Changma Wind Farm

Changma wind farm, located in Gansu province, is a joint venture
with CECEP. The Group has a 40% effective interest in the project
company. The 201MW wind farm started commercial operation in
November 2010. As this project was also obtained through the national
tendering process, the wind farm enjoyed minimal curtailment. The
power dispatched in 2018 was approximately 458.6 GWh, which was
equivalent to 2,282 utilization hours. As wind resources were slightly
better than last year, together with improved operational efficiencies,
the performance was better compared to last year's dispatch of
445.2GWh (equivalent to 2,215 utilization hours).

Lunaobao Wind Farm

Lunaobao wind farm is a joint venture with CECEP and is adjacent to the
Danjinghe wind farm. The Group has a 30% effective equity interest.
The wind farm capacity is 100.5MW and started commercial operation
in February 2011. Unlike Danjinghe, Lunaobao was not obtained
through the national tendering process, hence it does not enjoy
low curtailment. The power dispatched in 2018 was approximately
215.1GWh, which was equivalent to 2,141 utilization hours. Although
wind resources were similar to last year, slightly higher curtailment
resulted in lower power dispatch compared to last year's dispatch of
226.2GWh (equivalent to 2,251 utilization hours).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS REVIEW (continued)

Nanxun Distributed Solar Project

Nanxun distributed solar project is located in Nanxun district of Huzhou
city in Zhejiang province, and is the Group’s first wholly-owned
distributed rooftop solar project. The 4 Mega-Watt-peak (“MWp")
distributed solar project was installed over 60,000 square meters of
rooftops on Nanxun International Building Materials City, a commercial
complex owned by CRE’s parent company, HKC (Holdings) Limited.
Power generated is sold to Nanxun International Building Materials City
and any excess power is sold to the local grid company. The project
started commercial operation in March 2018. The power dispatched
in 2018 was approximately 3.8GWh, which was equivalent to 953
utilization hours.

BUSINESS MODEL & RISKS MANAGEMENT

CRE's main business is acting as an investor-operator in China’s
renewable energy sector, in which we secure, develop, construct
and operate power stations in order to provide reliable electricity to
customers. As one of the main external investors in China's renewable
energy sector, the Group is well positioned to contribute to the
government'’s plan for a low-carbon economy.

Our Group strategy “Grow - Advance - Sustain” guides our operations
and development going forward. All investment opportunities are
thoroughly evaluated by the Executive Committee and the Board
based on a combination of project economic, environmental and social
benefits. We plan to continue to develop renewable energy projects
and to look for growth investment opportunities in new technologies.
In CRE, every kilo-Watt-hour (“kWh") energy output counts. We
therefore strive to innovate and advance in all aspects of our business
and operations to continuously enhance our profitability with an
ultimate goal to create sustainable value and to increase return for
shareholders.

Risk management is the responsibility of everyone within the Group;
risk is inherent in our business and the market in which it operates.
Rather than being a standalone process, risk management is integrated
into our daily business process, from project level day-to-day operation
to corporate level strategy development and investment decisions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DT

BUSINESS MODEL & RISKS MANAGEMENT (continued)
Through a bottom up approach, we identify and review existing and
emerging risks semi-annually. Identified risks are then monitored and
discussed at the Group level. The risk management process is overseen
by the Executive Committee and the Board as an element of our
strong corporate governance. Within CRE, all risks factors are classified
under 6 different categories, (i) Policy and Regulations, (ii) Legal and
Compliance, (iii) Safety, Health and Environmental, (iv) Financial, (v)
Operational and (vi) Reputational; and are evaluated through assessing
their consequences and likelihood. With a continuous and proactive
approach to risk management, the Group is committed to identifying
material risks and then to managing these so that they can be
understood, minimised, mitigated or avoided.

OUTLOOK

During 2018, the NDRC and National Energy Administration (“NEA")
issued the “"Renewable Energy Consumption Action Plan 2018-
2020". The plan calls for a renewable energy quota system which
will set renewable energy consumption targets for each region, with
the goal of reducing curtailment by 2020. In addition, NEA continues
to encourage new technologies and management strategies and to
improve the transmission networks. Operational procedures have also
been improved in order to increase the utilization rate of renewable
energy. With environmental protection now equivalent in importance to
economic growth, wind and solar power consumption is expected to
continue increasing.

However, the renewable energy industry continues to face challenges
such as increased competition and delays in the tariff subsidies
settlement. However, environmental protection policies will become
stronger and the government is more carefully managing the growth of
the industry. And the government is making progress in settling tariff
subsidies. With lower expected investment costs, lower curtailment,
and improved operational efficiencies, wind farm utilization rates and
investment returns are expected to improve.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Facing the challenges and opportunities, the Group continues to
proactively respond. We continue to adhere to our principle of
investing only in top quality renewable energy projects, focusing on
those projects with high potential return and in regions not subject to
curtailment. For our existing wind farms, every kWh energy output
counts, as outlined in our strategy. The Group’s wind power projects
in Heilongjiang and Inner Mongolia will explore participating in the pilot
electricity market trading scheme. This is expected to help increase
power dispatch, reduce curtailment and increase overall profitability of
these projects.

On the development front, Songxian Phase Il Wind Farm 40 MW has
been successfully approved by NDRC. Initial planning is underway.
Construction will be targeted to start in late 2019 or early 2020 and
commercial operation is expected to commence around early 2021.
After completion and full operation of the phase two project, the
Group’s total gross power generating capacity will increase by 5%
to 778 MW. At the same time, we have been actively looking into
acquiring and developing other wind and solar power projects in China,
and possibly overseas.

CRE has full confidence in our growth prospects. The renewable
energy business is one that rewards expertise, patience, commitment
and innovation. With our Songxian Phase | Wind Farm to be fully
commissioned in 2019 and Songxian Phase |l Wind Farm to be
commissioned in coming years, the Group expects earnings to continue
improving. The Group has been focusing on increasing profitability
instead of blind pursuit of expansion. We will continue to work
diligently, develop our businesses efficiently and steadily, and will
consider strategic alliances, with an aim to create sustainable, stable
and increasing returns for shareholders as we work towards a smarter
and cleaner tomorrow.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DT

OUTLOOK (continued)

Employees

As at the end of December 2018, the Group’s operations in Hong
Kong and Mainland China employed a total of 89 employees. Our core
requirement is to ensure that we attract, retain and deploy employees
with the capabilities needed to secure, develop, construct and
operate our assets. In 2018, we have strengthened our resources and
capabilities through a combination of external recruitment and internal
transfers of staff. These have enabled us to enhance performance
through common standards and processes in safety, project
management and asset management. The Group has also appointed
technical consultants on contract terms when deemed necessary for
the development of new projects and for operation of existing projects.
All employees are remunerated according to the nature of their jobs,
their individual performances, the Group’s overall performance, and the
prevailing marketing conditions.

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and support for the low carbon development of China. CRE
strives to continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy
sector to adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders
while balancing the needs of our shareholders, environment and the
communities we operate in.

The Group has over 664 MW of operating wind farms and a distributed
solar project in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner Mongolia and Zhejiang
provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote northern regions.
They greatly benefit the economic development of the local area
through investment, by reducing local pollution and carbon emissions,
and by contributing to the local community through the hiring of local
staff who are given fair market-based remuneration packages. In
2018, CRE's operating assets complied with all local environmental
related regulatory requirements. With a total electricity generation of
1,362.2GWh, we have reduced approximately 443,000 tons of coal
consumption and 1,054,000 tons of carbon emission. For our Songxian
Phase | Wind Farm which is still under construction in 2019, we will
closely monitor the environmental performance of the construction
sites through regular measurements, site supervision, and on-site
audits by both CRE internal staff and independent parties.
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OUTLOOK (continued)

Environmental, Social and Governance Issues (continued)

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their expectations.
As one of the main foreign investors in China’s renewable energy
industry, we continue to maintain close contacts with our stakeholders,
including but not limited to the Government (e.g. the NDRC and NEA at
both national and provincial level), local authorities (e.g. environmental
and land bureau) and State Grid Corporation through various meetings
to facilitate their understanding of our business, operations and
development direction.

The Group will continue to support the low carbon development in
China though investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.

Bl (4)

RE - HEREREE®AE)
BPERENSHNERIRGTREE  BHT
7 & B FE b PR EAE - {E AP B R] A REIRTT
ENTERIMNRBEZ —  BRPVEEEN SR
& (BEETRNEA(NBEERRERER
ZRBERERR) A ERMBRER L
B)REREFAAF)EBEREERFTER
R - R T RBEMIORT  BERERT
A o

AEERZBRESENBLERLRER - £8
XEFPENERER - R BEAEEE S
KBFER  AEEKSKEBEMT A RE
BREMRIEREZER



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENGREEE

Mr. OEIl Kang, Eric

(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, aged 48, has been appointed as Executive Director,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company since 10 April
2008. He also holds several directorships in other members of the
Group and the chairman of the Executive Committee of the Company.
Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company on 20 March 2019. He was
educated in the USA and obtained a Bachelor's Degree in Economics
(with a minor in Electrical Engineering), and a Master's Degree in
Business Administration. Earlier in his career, he worked with Peregrine
Securities Ltd. and PCCW Limited in Hong Kong, the LG Group in
Seoul and McKinsey & Co. in Los Angeles, USA. Mr. OEl is currently
an Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer of HKC (Holdings)
Limited ("HKC", together with its subsidiaries, the “HKC Group”), the
shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and the controlling
shareholder of the Company. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of HKC. Mr. OEl is also the director and the shareholder of Claudio
Holdings Limited, the controlling shareholder of HKC.

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel

(Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer)

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel, aged 55 has been appointed as
Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Company since
1 December 2008. He joined the Group in April 2008 as Qualified
Accountant of the Company. He also holds several directorships
in other members of the Group and is a member of the Executive
Committee of the Company. Mr. LEUNG has been appointed as
Executive Director of HKC since 1 September 2015. He is currently the
Chief Financial Officer of HKC and also a director of certain subsidiaries
of HKC. Mr. LEUNG is a certified practising accountant of CPA Australia.
Mr. LEUNG obtained a Master’s Degree in Business from RMIT
University of Australia. He has over 20 years’ experience in auditing and
finance management with an international audit firm and other major
conglomerates in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. LEUNG
was a director of internal control and risk management of HKC.
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Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

(Executive Director)

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy, aged 58, has been appointed as
Executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2014. He has been
instrumental in raising funds for the Group. Mr. WONG is the Investor
Relations Director of the Group, and is currently serving as a member
of the Executive Committee of the Company. He is also a Director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group. Since 2007, Mr. WONG has joined
HKC, and is an Executive Director of HKC. He also serves as a Director
of certain subsidiaries of the HKC Group.

Mr. WONG received a Bachelor’'s degree in the geophysical sciences
from the University of Chicago and an MBA from the Yale School of
Management. Before Yale, he worked as a petroleum geologist at
Sohio Petroleum. After Yale, Mr. WONG became an investment banker
at Kidder, Peabody in New York, where he was involved in project
finance. He moved to Hong Kong with Bear Stearns, and was involved
in a variety of corporate finance activities, including some of the first
H share IPOs out of China. Mr. WONG then worked in equity research
at Societe Generale where he was in charge of the research efforts in
Shanghai; and later as vice President and head of China Research at
Credit Suisse in Hong Kong. Before joining HKC, Mr. WONG served
as a Chief Financial Officer for DVN (Holdings) Limited (now known
as "Frontier Services Group Limited”), where he was involved in fund
raising and introducing strategic investors to the company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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Mr. YU Hon To, David

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. YU Hon To, David, aged 70, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 10 April 2008. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. YU is a fellow member
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and
an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. He has extensive experience in the fields of auditing,
corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management.
He was formerly a partner of an international accounting firm.

Mr. YU is currently an independent non-executive director of the
following companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange,
namely China Resources Gas Group Limited (stock code: 1193), Haier
Electronics Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1169), Keck Seng Investments
(Hong Kong) Limited (stock code: 184), Media Chinese International
Limited (which is also listed in Malaysia; Hong Kong stock code: 685,
Malaysia stock code: 5090), MS Group Holdings Limited (Stock Code:
1451), One Media Group Limited (stock code: 426) and Playmates
Holdings Limited (stock code: 635). Mr. YU is also an independent non-
executive director of New Century Asset Management Limited, the
manager of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust (stock code:
1275), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. YU was an independent non-executive director of Bracell Limited
(formerly known as “Sateri Holdings Limited”) (stock code: 1768), Great
China Holdings Limited (stock code: 141) and Synergis Holdings Limited
(stock code: 2340) (companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) within the last three years.
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Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan, aged 54, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 23 April 2013. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. TIAN is the President
of SITE Centers Capital Management LLC (formerly known as “DDR
Capital Management LLC"). He holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from
Beijing Foreign Studies University. Mr. TIAN also obtained an executive
education program certificate from Cheung Kong Graduate School
of Management in 2009 and completed a program in leadership and
public policy at University of Oxford in 2012. He has over 33 years
of experience in multinational business, corporate management,
international equity investment and corporate finance. Mr. TIAN was
the executive director and chief executive officer of CITIC Dameng
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1091), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange. He also held senior positions in several
subsidiaries of CITIC Group between 1986 and 2004. Mr. TIAN was
employed as the Senior Vice President, Corporate Strategy and
Development and served as a director of some subsidiaries of HKC
between April 2006 to March 2008.

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

(Independent Non-executive Director)

Mr. ZHANG Songyi, aged 63, has been appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company since 1 January 2016. He is
also a member of the Audit Committee, Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company. He obtained a Juris Doctor
degree from Yale University in 1985. Mr. ZHANG currently serves in
senior management and advisory capacities in several companies,
including acting as the chairman of Mandra Capital and a director of
SINA Corporation and Athenex, Inc., companies listed on the NASDAQ
Stock Market. Mr. ZHANG is currently an independent non-executive
director of China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited, the
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.
He is also a non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited, the shares
of which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. Mr. ZHANG
was previously an Independent Non-executive Director of the Company
from April 2008 to April 2013.
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Corporate Governance Practices

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”, and
with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is committed to good
corporate governance principles and practices and its board of directors
(the “Directors” or the “Board"”) recognises that it is essential to
safeguard the interests of shareholders, customers and employees and
uphold accountability, transparency and responsibility of the Company.

The Company has applied the principles and complied with the code
provisions and certain recommended best practices set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the "CG Code”), contained in Appendix
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
during the year ended 31 December 2018, save for the deviations with
considered reasons as explained in the following relevant paragraphs.

Board of Directors

Board Composition

The Company has at all time during the year ended 31 December 2018
maintained a balanced board with strong independent element. The
Board currently comprises six Directors with three Executive Directors
and three Independent Non-executive Directors. Each Director
possesses expertise and experience and provides checks and balances
for safeguarding the interests of the Group and the shareholders as a
whole. In addition, the Company had maintained three Independent
Non-executive Directors which formed at least one-third of the full
Board. Biographical details of the Directors and their relationships,
where applicable, are set out in pages 17 to 20 of this Annual Report.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors with at least one Independent Non-
executive Director possessing appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors was
assessed in accordance with the applicable Listing Rules. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has provided to the Company
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company considers that all of them are independent.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

According to the Code Provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive officer ("CEQ") should be separate and
performed by different individuals. Under the current organisation
structure of the Company, the functions of CEO are performed
by the Chairman, Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, with support from the other
Executive Directors. The Board considers that this structure will not
impair the balance of power and authority between the Board and the
management of the Company, and has been effective in discharging its
responsibilities satisfactorily and facilitating the Company's operation
and business development. The Board will review the structure from
time to time to ensure it continues to meet the principle and will
consider segregation of the roles of chairman and CEO if and when
appropriate.

Responsibilities of Directors

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group and
is collectively responsible for promoting the success of the Group by
directing and supervising the Group's affairs and formulating business
strategies with a view to maximising its financial performance and
shareholders’ value.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities and powers to
the Board committees to assist it in efficiently implementing those
functions specified in written terms of reference.

Decisions relating to the long-term objectives and viability of the
Company, and any acquisitions or disposal of transactions and
investments of any kind with value exceeding the authority of the
Executive Committee set out in its terms of reference or the threshold
for discloseable transactions for the Company as defined in the
Listing Rules from time to time are reserved for the Board; whereas
decisions on matters set out in the terms of reference of the Executive
Committee and those not specifically reserved for the Board are
delegated to the Executive Committee and management, as applicable.

Directors are provided with sufficient resources to seek independent
professional advice in performing their duties at the Company’s
expense and are encouraged to consult with the Company’s senior
management independently. The management provides monthly
management accounts of the Group to the Directors to apprise them of
the Group's latest performance and financial position.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Responsibilities of Directors (continued)

Directors are requested to disclose to the Company at the time of his
appointment and in a timely manner for any change, the number and
nature of offices held in public companies or organisations and other
significant commitments. Such changes will be updated and published
in the annual and interim reports as appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to indemnify
the Group’s Directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate
activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Nomination, Appointment and Re-election of Directors

All new appointment of Directors and nomination of Directors proposed
for re-election at the annual general meeting are first considered by
the Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will assess
the candidate or incumbent on criteria such as integrity, experience,
skill and ability to commit time and effort to carry out the duties and
responsibilities. Having due regard for the benefits of diversity of the
Board, the Nomination Committee will then be put recommendations
to the Board for decision. Details of the role and function as well as a
summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee are set
out under the heading of “Nomination Committee” below.

In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the
“Articles of Association”), the nearest to but not less than one-third of
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation but are eligible for re-
election by shareholders at the annual general meeting provided that
every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years. New appointments to the Board are also subject to re-
election by shareholders at the next following annual general meeting
(in the case of an addition to the Board) or at the next following general
meeting (in the case of filing a casual vacancy).

All Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company were
appointed with no specific term, but are subject to the aforesaid
rotation requirement in the Articles of Association, accomplishing the
same purpose as being appointed for a specific term pursuant to Code
Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code. The rotating Directors who are subject
to retirement and re-election at 2019 annual general meeting are set out
on page 51 of this Annual Report.

EEE28)

EEEE#E)
EEANEZIRAARRARBEREIRARA
Bl ABTEERMLEE RIEE U REMER
A WEEREE)  BERRARFEE -
EREHHEEERMEFRRTHRENE
S T -

ARREZHBEEEERE  UWREASEE
EZRCEEBELZEE - ARFAFFBRIR

RE ZERERES
PIEMREZEERRNBRRBFASRIEE
LEERZHEACHELREGNSER - 8
HEZBEREmE  BR - REEANILETTHR
BRBE MR RS HH ) FREF G IR
BASEEA - REZEREFTERBZ L
ZHE REAREGCRERRNERERES
SUMERTE - RBZRE G2 ACKBIBEANRF
BITEZHEEN T [RRREE |4 -

REBEARR 2ABERAAN(THEHKERRA
A])  ZEAEFAPR=ZDZ2 —MEEERK
RBFAEHERT  ERSFTAEBARK
REFARGLERREREL BREFE
ELE=FHERE R -BFGINEEE
ENART - ERRBFAG(HEETESES
BB )N T —EBRRAE (R R =
R B R ERBE -

ARAFERBUIFNTESHEBEEED - 1
BB L ABERANZRERTRE - U
EREE TR TN TAMRXEALNVRREEE
HEZENHERBH - AR-T-NFBRRBEF
REWMERERERETZETHNAFRE
51H °



24 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
Annual Report 2018

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
TRERHRSE

Board of Directors (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees

The Directors meet from time to time to discuss and exchange ideas
on the affairs of the Company. The Board has set up various Board
Committees, among others, the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Executive
Committee for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's affairs. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee
and the Remuneration Committee are available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

During the year, the following meetings of the Board, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration
Committee were held and the attendance of the individual Directors at
these meetings is set out in the table below:
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Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee
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Executive Directors H{TEE
Mr. OEI Kang, Eric =H/I5t4E 4/4 2/2 Note Hi) 11 Wote Kkl 1/1 Note &)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel %% £ 4/4 AR N/AT @A N/ATNE
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =& R &4 4/4 2/2 Mote i) N/ATNE N/ATNE
Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. YU Hon To, David 832 4 414 4/4 11 A
Mr. TIAN Yuchuan B EJI %64 4/4 4/4 1 7
Mr. ZHANG Songyi R ¥EZ 4 2/4 1/4 0/1 0/1

Note: The Executive Directors attended the relevant meetings as invitees.
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Board of Directors (continued)

Meetings of the Board and Board Committees (continued)
Notices of not less than fourteen days are given for all regular board
meetings to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and
include matters in the agenda for a regular meeting. For committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. The agenda and
accompanying board papers are dispatched to the Directors or
committee members at least three days before the meetings to ensure
that they have sufficient time to review the papers and be adequately
prepared for the meetings. When Directors or committee members
are unable to attend a meeting, they are advised of the matters to be
discussed and given an opportunity to make their views known to the
Chairman and CEQ prior to the meeting.

Minutes of the board meetings and committee meetings are recorded
in sufficient detail on the matters considered by the Board and the
committees and the decisions reached, including any concerns raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes of each board meeting and committee
meeting are sent to the Directors for comments within a reasonable
time after the date of the meeting. All Directors have access to the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that the board
procedures are complied with and advising the Board on compliance
matters.

The Chairman and CEO acknowledged the significance of promoting
a culture of openness and debate among the Board members. To
facilitate the effective contribution of Independent Non-executive
Directors, the Chairman and CEO held a meeting with Independent
Non-executive Directors without the other Executive Directors present
in June 2018.
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Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, who
are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, who
is the Chairman and CEQO and was appointed as a member on 20 March
2019.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations
to the Board on the Company’s remuneration policy and structure for
Directors and senior management, and reviewing their remuneration
packages. In arriving at its recommendations, the Remuneration
Committee will consult with the Chairman and CEO whenever it thinks
fit and take into consideration factors such as the remuneration paid
by comparable companies, skill, knowledge, time commitment and
responsibilities of Directors. The Remuneration Committee has the
responsibility, powers and discretion to determine, with delegated
responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual Executive
Directors and senior management.

During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee held one
meeting to review, inter alia, the remuneration policy and structure
of Directors including those retired and re-elected at the 2018 annual
general meeting of the Company and approve the year-end bonus
and salary increment of the Executive Directors. No Director was
involved in deciding his own remuneration. The attendance records
of each member at the meeting of the Remuneration Committee are
set out on page 24. Details of the Directors’ and senior management's
remuneration for the year are set out in Note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference. The Nomination Committee, chaired by an
Independent Non-executive Director, comprises four members namely
Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr. ZHANG Songyi, who
are Independent Non-executive Directors and Mr. OEl Kang, Eric, who
is the Chairman and CEQO and was appointed as a member on 20 March
2019. The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year,
and the attendance details of each member are set out on page 24.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board at least annually, identifying
suitable candidates for directorship, assessing the independence of
Independent Non-executive Directors, and making recommendations
to the Board on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the
Company’s corporate strategy.

During the year, the work performed by the Nomination Committee
includes the following:

° reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;
° reviewing the structure of board committees;

° assessing the independence of Independent Non-executive
Directors and sufficient number of independent directors to
maintain a balanced board;

° making recommendation to the Board relating to the re-
appointment of the retiring Directors; and

° reviewing the progress report from the management in relation to
the Board Diversity Policy.

The Company had provided the Nomination Committee sufficient
resources to perform its duties. Where necessary, the Nomination
Committee could seek independent professional advice, at the
Company’s expense, to perform its responsibilities.
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Nomination Committee (continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) on 8 July 2013.

Below is the summary of the Board Diversity Policy:

The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a diverse
Board, and sees increasing diversity at Board level as an essential
element in maintaining a competitive advantage. All appointments of
the members of the Board are made on merit, in the context of the
skills and experience the Board as a whole requires to be effective.
In designing the Board composition, the Company is committed to
equality of opportunity in all aspects and does not discriminate on the
grounds, including but not limited to, ethnicity, gender, age, cultural and
religious background.

The Nomination Committee discussed and agreed the measurable
objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and recommended them
to the Board for adoption. During the year, the Committee reviewed
the existing composition of the Board and received and accepted the
progress report from the management in relation to identified business
skills and experience required and their ranking and the action plan
for recruiting new Board member. It also monitored the review of the
Company’s recruitment process to reinforce its commitment to the
principle of equal opportunity.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established an Audit Committee with written terms
of reference which have been updated from time to time to align with
the code provisions set out in the CG Code. The Audit Committee,
chaired by an Independent Non-executive Director, comprises three
members namely Mr. YU Hon To, David, Mr. TIAN Yuchuan and Mr.
ZHANG Songyi, all of whom are Independent Non-executive Directors.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee are to, inter alia,
review and supervise the Group's financial reporting process, internal
control and risk management procedures, as well as oversee the
adequacy of the accounting and financial reporting resources. \While
recognised corporate governance is the collective responsibility of all
Directors, the Board has delegated the corporate governance functions
to the members of Audit Committee who are in an objective and
independent position to oversee the corporate governance compliance.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two meetings
together with senior management and external auditor and two
private meetings with the external auditor without the management’s
presence. The attendance details of each member are set out on
page 24. The major work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year included reviewing interim and annual financial statements,
internal audit reports on the internal control and risk management
matters, the Company's policies and practices on corporate governance
as well as reviewing and recommending re-appointment of external
auditor.

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing guideline for employees
to raise concerns, in confidence, with the designated executive who
is accountable to the Audit Committee about possible improprieties
in financial reporting, unlawful activities, or activities violating the
Group's Code of Conduct and Business Ethics or otherwise amounting
to serious improper conduct and to ensure protection from possible
retaliation against any of our employees who has reported concerns in
good faith.
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Executive Committee

The Company has established an Executive Committee with the key
initiatives to manage the Group’'s business activities, and oversee
the operating performance and financial position of the Group and
all strategic business units. The Executive Committee comprises all
Executive Directors of the Company and chaired by Mr. OEl Kang, Eric.

During the year under review, the Executive Committee met regularly
to review the performance of various business units of the Group,
coordinate overall resources, made financial and operation decisions
delegated by the Board, review and develop investment strategy and
policies of the Company and make relevant recommendations to the
Board.

Delegation by the Board

The management, consisting of the Executive Directors and executives
of the Company, is delegated with responsibilities for implementing
the strategy and direction as adopted by the Board from time to time,
and conducting the day-to-day operations of the Group. Executive
Directors and executives meet regularly to review the performance
of the businesses of various business units of the Group as a whole,
coordinate overall resources and make financial and operation
decisions. The Board also gives clear directions as to their powers of
management including circumstances where management should
report back, and will review the delegation arrangements on a periodic
basis to ensure that they remain appropriate to the needs of the Group.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
(the "Model Code"”) as its own code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiries, the Company
has obtained confirmation from all Directors that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 December 2018.

The Company has also adopted a code for dealing in the Company’s
securities by relevant employees, who are likely to be in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to the securities of the Group,
on no less exacting terms than the Model Code.
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Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2018 which
give a true and fair view of the affairs of the Company and the Group
and of the Group’s results and cash flows. In preparing the financial
statements, the Directors have adopted generally accepted accounting
standards in Hong Kong and suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, made judgements and estimates that are prudent,
fair and reasonable and prepared the financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The statement of the Company’s auditor about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Company is set out in
the Independent Auditor's Report on pages 63 to 69.

Auditors’ Remuneration

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the fees in respect of audit and
non-audit services provided to the Group by the auditor amounted to
approximately HK$1.5 million and HK$0.4 million respectively. The non-
audit services consist of interim results review.
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Directors’ Training

For the year ended 31 December 2018, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The training programmes included seminars
and courses, reviewed the updated laws, rules and regulations and
materials on topics relevant to the director’s duties and responsibilities.
A summary of training received by Directors during the year ended 31
December 2018 according to the records provided by the Directors is as
follows:

=80 |
REBEZ_Z—\F+_A=1+—HIFE &
REFCDQOBESERRE  UBRIEFH
#E e o FIIFT B BERN g LRE - B
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Training on corporate governance,

Name of Directors regulatory development and other relevant topics
EEgE TEER  EERRRHMAREEEZIE
Executive Directors #{TESE

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric EHlI5t4 v/

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Z2&57x 5t 4 v

Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =18 R 54 v

Independent Non-executive Directors B FEHITESE

Mr. YU Hon To, David 32 E 4 v

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan B EJI 564 v/

Mr. ZHANG Songyi 5283 %o & 4

The Company continuously updates Directors on the latest developments
in the statutory and regulatory regime and the business environment to
facilitate the discharge of their responsibilities. In addition, the Directors
are regularly encouraged to enroll in a wide range of professional
development courses and seminars regarding the Listing Rules and
other regulatory requirements to enhance their awareness of good
corporate governance practices.
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Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board is responsible for the Group's risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness, while management
is charged with the responsibility to design, implement and monitor
the risk management and internal control systems to manage risks and
compliance.

Risk Management Model
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PR 0 Compliance
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As the first line of defense, operational management is responsible
for maintaining effective internal controls and for executing risk and
control procedures on day-to-day operation. Management of Head
Office establishes various risk management and compliance functions
to provide direction on the importance of risk management and
monitor the first line of defense controls. The Internal Audit and Risk
Management (“IARM") Department reviews and provides independent
assurance on the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems of the Group.

(Independent Assurance)

(BLRFE)

Internal Audit
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TEERRE
Risk Management and Internal Control (continued) A EERAIPEIZEE)
Internal Control Framework AR HE 2R

The Group has in place an integrated internal control framework thatis  ZAREEE %37 ECOSO (Committee of Sponsoring
consistent with the COSO (Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of  Organisations of the Treadway Commission){E2&
the Treadway Commission) framework as illustrated below: —H R NEPEIESRE - FERAT

Control Environment

EEEIRIS

° Set the right tone of the Group influencing control consciousness and risk awareness of the staff.
W AREEERNELRER  UR(LEENEEEZLERRBE

o Factors include integrity, ethical values, competence, delegation of authority and responsibility.
REE AR  BEEE - B  BEEKETHESFAE -

o Foundation for all other components of internal control.

1ERFT B E A BPEIEAERCEE D FYELHE o

Risk Assessment

B Ay

o Identification, evaluation and analysis of the key risks underlying the achievement of the Group's objectives,
including the risks relating to the changing regulatory and operating environment; conducted regularly, forming
the basis for determining control activities.
EEAER .:JHE)SZ IEERASE B REFAN T ERAR(BEFREE REEREECHRR) - WALLERS
TE ELPE R BB AR

Control Activities
ELiEE
o Policies and procedures for ensuring management directives are carried out and necessary actions are taken to
address the risks that may hinder the achievement of the Group’s objectives.
FIEBRRET  BREBE ZETMEUITURERVETHREN S EREREREE 2R
o Control activities include authorisations, approvals, verifications, performance reviews, segregation of duties,
asset security, access control, documentation and records.
ERERERE B KB BRRS - BEES - EERE - FEUEH - XHEERREE -
Information and Communication
ERRBEAR
° Pertinent information is identified, captured and provided to the right person in a timely manner.
WA - B EEE A TREEEER
o Channels of communication across the Group and with external parties are established.
BIUAREEZEF 2 MAREINRA L 2 BREE -

° Channels of communication exist for people to report suspected malpractices or improprieties relating to the

Group.
HBERPREREFBEEAENERFMHATETRARLBERE -
Monitoring
ELER

° Combination of ongoing and separate evaluations of control system’s performance.
FHE BRI A BE 1 REVAE R ©

o Management and supervisory activities.
EERERTE-

° Internal audit activities.

MEREET TIE -
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Control Environment

The actions of management and its demonstrated commitment to
maintaining a high standard of corporate governance practices within
the Group are transparent to all. The Group strives to conduct all
business affairs based on good business ethics and accountability.
We have in place a formal Code of Conduct & Business Ethics that is
communicated to all staff members. We aim to build risk awareness
and control responsibility into our culture and regard them as the
foundation of our risk management and internal control systems.

The risk management and internal control systems are designed to
monitor the Group's ability to achieve its business objectives; and
can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

We maintain an effective internal audit function, the IARM Department,
whose main features include:

(i) independence from operational management;

(i) fully empowered auditors with access to all data and every
operation of the Group;

(i) adequate resources and well qualified and capable staff;

(iv)  risk-based auditing, concentrating on areas with significant risks or
where significant changes have been made.

Risk Management

Management has an ongoing process to identify and evaluate the
significant risks facing the Group and to prioritise resources to manage
those that arise. Mitigation strategies and plans with respect to each
key risk identified are developed and implemented with regular review
and update, which include establishing or enhancing internal controls.

Heads of the departments, projects and business units regularly review
and analyse the key risks associated with achieving the objectives
of their particular departments, activities and businesses to provide
reasonable assurance that internal controls are both embedded and
effective within their areas of accountability.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Control Processes

The Board maintains sound and effective risk management and internal
control systems through the following:

(i)

(i)

(iif)

(iv)

(vii)

The Board reviews the Group's strategic plans and objectives on
an annual basis.

An organisational structure with defined lines of responsibility and
delegation of authority is devised.

Systems and procedures are in place to identify and evaluate
risks on an ongoing basis. Senior executives review the risk
assessment process and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems.

Appropriate policies and key control activities are maintained with
regular review on their effectiveness.

Financial performance is analysed against budget with variances
being accounted for and appropriate actions taken to rectify
deficiencies.

Senior executives ensure compliance with relevant laws,
regulations, standards and ordinances, including Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, the Listing Rules and the
Companies Ordinance, under their responsibility.

The IARM Department reports directly to the Audit Committee
and the CEO, and carries out independent reviews on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
and internal control systems in accordance with its annual audit
plan approved by the Audit Committee. Key audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations
are regularly reported to the Board through the Audit Committee.
Head of the IARM Department also serves as the contact person
under the Whistleblowing Guideline of the Company.

R\ B T I R BREE 4R (4%)

EERF

EXEQEBTNIERF  ARTZABNERE
2R R

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vii)
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)
Review of Internal Control Effectiveness

The Executive Directors of the Company conduct reviews of the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems, and submit to the Audit Committee a certification of
compliance for effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of
financial reporting, and compliance with applicable laws and regulations
bi-annually. The scope of this review covers the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Group's accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.

The Audit Committee regularly reviews the audit findings and
implementation progress of internal control recommendations,
and opinion of the IARM Department on the performance of risk
management and internal control systems of the Group. External
auditor also reports on any control issues identified in the course of their
audit work.

Taking the above into consideration, the Audit Committee reviews the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal control
systems at least once each year and reports to the Board on such
reviews.

The Board has, through the Audit Committee, reviewed and considered
the Group's risk management and internal control systems effective
and adequate for the year ended 31 December 2018. No significant
areas of concern that might affect the operational, financial, and
compliance controls and risk management function of the Group were
identified.
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Risk Management and Internal Control (continued)

Inside Information

With respect to procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information, the Company:

(i) is aware of the obligations under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance, the applicable Listing Rules and other statutory
regulations with regard to the timely and proper disclosure of
inside information, announcements and financial disclosures and
authorises their publication as required.

(i) has adopted and implemented its Inside Information Disclosure
Policy.

(i) has in place a Code for Securities Dealing for governing the
securities transactions of those employees who, because of
their positions, are likely to have access to confidential or inside
information.

(iv) identifies and authorises members of the Group's senior
management to act as the Company’s spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.

Company Secretary

The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO on Board
or committee matters. He is an employee of HKC (Holdings) Limited
("HKC"), the holding company of the Company, who serves both the
Company and HKC. All Directors have direct access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary for the ongoing discharge of their
duties and responsibilities. For the financial year ended 31 December
2018, the Company Secretary took more than 15 hours of relevant
professional training organised by the Stock Exchange and various
professional bodies.

Constitutional Documents of the Company

The Company has published its updated and consolidated version of
Memorandum and Articles of Association at the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. During the year, there was no alteration on
the constitutional documents of the Company.
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General Meeting

The last annual general meeting of the Company was held on 29
May 2018 (the “2018 AGM"). The Chairman and CEO chaired the
2018 AGM. The external auditor attended the 2018 AGM to answer
questions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and content of
the auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.

The attendance record of the individual Directors at the 2018 AGM is
set out in the table below:

Name of Directors

EEMR

EFE#IIH//“TQ EHRAR 39
—T-)\FFR

RRRE
ARBE-—ERRBEFRER_Z—\FHA
“tHBEEF( - N\FREBEFAE]) -
TRERTBAEEE T \FRREFAE
TE o INBRZBEN N E — T N FRRBF
RE - UBEABRE  ZBEREZREL
WA - BFTBER R ZBEVEL 1t 2 125

BEEN T \EWRRBAFERS 2 HFELHE
Eagdl N

2018 AGM Attended
HE—Z-\FERREFAE

Executive Directors #{TE%E

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric =I5t A4

Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel Z2&57x 584
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy =18 R 54

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHITES
Mr. YU Hon To, David &£ & 54

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan FEJII 54

Mr. ZHANG Songyi SR8 4

>

Note: Independent Non-executive Directors are required to attend general meetings
pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG Code. All Independent Non-executive
Directors were encouraged to attend the general meeting to inter-face with
shareholders of the Company but some of them were not in a position to attend the
2018 AGM due to overseas commitment and prearranged business engagements.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting and put forward
proposals at general meetings

Shareholders can put forward their proposals at an extraordinary
general meeting. Procedures for the shareholders of the Company
to convene an extraordinary general meeting is provided for under
Article 58 of the Articles of Association.

Under Article 58 of the Articles of Association, any member(s)
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company shall have the right, by written requisition to the
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition (“Requisitionists”).
The written request must state the resolution, preferably
accompanied by a statement of not more than one thousand
words with respect to the matter referred to in the proposed
resolution for the Company’s reference and consideration, signed
by the all Requisitionists concerned.

The written request must be deposited at the head office of the
Company at 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong, for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

The request will be verified with the Company's branch share
registrar and transfer agent in Hong Kong (the “Branch Share
Registrars”). Upon the Branch Share Registrars’ confirmation that
the request is proper and in order, the Company will convene
an extraordinary general meeting within two months after the
deposit of such requisition, and will serve sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory and regulatory requirements to all
members of the Company.

Procedures for election of directors of the Company
The procedures for the shareholders of the Company to propose
a person for election as a Director are available and accessible on
the Company's website at www.cre987.com.
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Communication with Shareholders

The Board believes regular and timely communication with
shareholders forms part of the Group’s effort to help our shareholders
understand our business better. Copies of the annual reports and
interim reports of the Company are distributed to its shareholders
in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements and also
to interested parties recorded in the Company’s mailing lists. The
publications of the Company, including financial reports, circulars
and announcements, are also available on the Company's website at
www.cre987.com.

The Company acknowledges that general meetings are good
communication channel with the shareholders. At the general meeting,
each substantially separate issue is considered by a separate resolution,
including election of individual directors, and the poll procedures
are clearly explained. The Chairman and CEQO, other members of
the Board, the Chairmen of the relevant Board Committees and the
external auditor of the Company attended the annual general meeting
to interface with, and answer questions from the shareholders of the
Company.

Shareholders can send their enquiry to the Board by the following ways:

Post 9/F., Tower 1, South Seas Centre, 75 Mody Road,
Tsimshatsui East, Kowloon, Hong Kong

E-mail :  info@cre987.com

Fax (852) 2722 1323
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

RIR - HERERHE

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company” or
“CRE", and with its subsidiaries, collectively, the “Group”) is pleased
to present its annual Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the
“ESG Report”) with disclosure reference made to the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”)
as contained in Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The ESG Report covers the financial
year ended 31 December 2018.

This ESG Report describes the Group's environmental, social and
governance management approach, strategy, priorities and objectives.
It explains how the Group complies with the “comply or explain”
provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide. This ESG Report covers the
Group's governance on the Environmental and Social aspect. The
corporate governance aspect is addressed in more details in the
Corporate Governance Report.

As one of the earliest investors in China’s renewable energy sector
since 2006, the Group has been heavily involved in environmental
protection and in reducing carbon emissions in China. CRE strives to
continuously improve and evolve in the renewable energy sector in
order to adapt to the changing expectations of our stakeholders while
balancing the needs of our shareholders, the environment and the
communities we operate in.
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ENVIRONMENTAL

EMISSIONS AND USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has seven wind farms and one distributed solar project
under operation with a total gross power generating capacity of 664
Mega-Watt in Hebei, Heilongjiang, Gansu, Inner Mongolia and Zhejiang
provinces. Most of our projects are located in remote northern regions,
which greatly benefit the economic development of the local area
through investment, by reducing local pollution and carbon emissions,
and by contributing to the local community through the hiring of local
staff who are given fair market based remuneration packages. In 2018,
CRE's operating assets complied with all local environmental related
regulatory requirements. With a total electricity generation of 1,362.2
Giga-Watt-hours (“GWh") (2017: 1,325.2 GWh), we have reduced
approximately 443,000 tons (2017: 431,000 tons) of coal consumption
and 1,054,000 tons (2017: 1,025,000 tons) of carbon emission. For
our Songxian Phase | Wind Farm which is still under construction in
2019, we will closely monitor the environmental performance of the
construction sites through regular measurements, site supervision, and
on-site audits by both CRE internal staff and independent parties.

We place importance on creating positive relationships with
stakeholders through understanding and addressing their expectations.
As one of the main foreign investors in China's renewable energy
industry, we continue to maintain close contacts with our stakeholders,
including but not limited to the Government (e.g. the Development and
Reform Commission and the Energy Administration at both national and
provincial level), local authorities (e.g. environmental and land bureau)
and the State Grid Corporation through various meetings to facilitate
their understanding of our business, operations and development
direction.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

EMISSIONS AND USE OF RESOURCES (continued)

The Group will continue to support the low carbon development in
China though investing in various renewable energy projects. At the
same time, we will explore other means to further contribute to the
communities we operate in as the Group grows larger and more
profitable.

The Group does not generate any hazardous waste and water
consumption is minimal.

The Group applies the following energy saving measures in the
workplace:

o Lights and electrical appliances in living area or workplace must be
turned off when not in use.

° Staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting room and the computer at the workstation when it is not
in use.

° The room temperature is maintained at 25°C to save energy.

o Video and telephone conferencing instead of face-to-face
meetings are arranged where possible.

° The Group encourages employees to reduce the use of paper
by assessing the necessity of printing, by encouraging duplex
printing where appropriate, and by reusing the blank side of
single-side printed paper.

Under the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company is
required to disclose the data on emissions, greenhouse gas emissions,
total hazardous waste, total nonhazardous waste and description
of measures to mitigate emissions and reduce hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Also, under the KPIs A2.1 to A2.5 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the
Company is required to disclose the data on the energy consumption
and water consumption and the description of energy use efficiency
initiatives, water efficiency initiatives and total packaging material used.
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ENVIRONMENTAL (continued)

EMISSIONS AND USE OF RESOURCES (continued)

Further, under the KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide, the Company
is required to disclose the description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.

As the principal activity of the Company is renewable energy business
(including wind power and distributed solar energy generation
business), the Company viewed that the KPIs A1.1 to A1.6, KPIs A2.1
to A2.5 and KPI A3.1 of the ESG Reporting Guide are not material to the
principal activities of the Company and have not disclosed in this report.

SOCIAL

The Group regards people as its most important asset. Over the years,
the Group has put considerable effort to provide a safe and healthy staff
environment for its employees. The Group offers a comprehensive and
competitive package of benefits to attract and retain talent.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group has adopted an “Employee Handbook” which sets out the
practices and policies of human resources. The Employee Handbook is
in compliance with the Labor law of the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC"), Labour Contract Law, the Hong Kong employment laws and
other relevant laws and regulations. The Employee Handbook covers
areas such as compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, diversity, and other policies for the benefit
of the employees of the Company.

The Group is an equal opportunity employer and does not discriminate
on the basis of personal characteristics. Regardless of race, color,
descent, ethnic background, ethnic origin, gender, age, nationality,
disability, veteran status, citizenship and religion, all job applicants and
current employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair treatment. The
Group values the input and contributions made by employees of all
backgrounds.

During the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has complied with
all the relevant rules and regulations in relation to employment.
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SOCIAL (continued)

HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group is committed to providing a safe, effective and congenial
work environment. Adequate arrangements, training and guidelines are
implemented to ensure the working environment is healthy and safe.
Different safety-related initiatives and measures have been rolled out
in the Company’s operations. Risk assessments are also conducted
to identify risks in special working environments, while detailed safety
instructions have been formulated and communicated to workers,
including both employees and contractors as part of their safety training
sessions and pre-work risk assessment. Safety officers are appointed
to coordinate and communicate safety-related matters to all workers on
site.

The Company offers its employees comprehensive health care
coverage and also provides medical insurance coverage.

DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group encourages employees to attend training and
development programs to strengthen their job skills, to enhance
their professionalism, to improve their operational efficiency and
productivity, and to develop their potential and other talents. In addition,
the Group encourages and assists employees to further develop
their technical or professional standards knowledge by sponsoring
them for professional membership. All applications for membership
fee reimbursement will be considered depending on their degree of
importance to the employee’s job and their relevance to the operational
requirements of the employee’s department. Continuous professional
development training for directors and senior management are required
and the Group encourages them to attend training programs organised
by various professional bodies.

LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group’s employment practices has strictly complied with the Labor
Contract law of PRC, the Hong Kong employment laws and other
relevant laws and regulations to avoid child or forced labour and other
potential irregularities. During recruitment, all job applicants are required
to complete a job application form and declare that all personal data
provided (including age and personal particulars) are true and correct.
The Group undertakes a detailed job reference check, if needed.
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SOCIAL (continued)

SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

The Group is committed to ensuring that its supply chain management
is socially responsible. The Group has adopted procurement procedures
and practices to identify eligible bidders through a detailed assessment
of prospective bidders. Factors considered include company size,
qualifications, financial strength, previous track record and whether
various safety, environmental and quality related internal systems and
qualifications (e.g. ISO) are in place. Qualified parties are then allowed
to participate in the procurement process. Suppliers are chosen based
on the supplier’s ability to guarantee satisfactory product quantity
and quality, price and ability to deliver services on time. The Group
closely monitors supplier's performance and provides feedback where
necessary.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Maintaining high quality and standards are crucial to the Group's
sustainable development. Reliability, safety, and quality of our energy
generation are crucial to the Group's success. Therefore, maintaining
high availability and operating our wind and solar assets efficiently to
maximize our energy generation are the Group’s major priorities.

During the construction of wind and distributed solar project, the main
equipment procured such as wind turbines and solar panels are required
to have completed all necessary testing and qualifications certification
in accordance with national standards. At the same time, the Group has
undertaken production control and quality assurance examination of the
procured equipment to make sure of its product quality so as to protect
the interests of shareholders and customers.

The Group puts considerable effort in dealing with the core issues
that make us competitive as a renewable energy operator, including
safety, health, environmental and quality standards, and operation
& maintenance capability. The Group continuously reviews its
construction to ensure it is consistent with the original project design.
With regard to the quality of construction and health and safety
standards, the Group strictly adheres to national and local standards and
the respective codes for construction inspection and acceptance.
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SOCIAL (continued)

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group has issued the “Code of Conduct & Business Ethics” (the
“Code") to all the directors and employees of the Group. The Code sets
out the principles to guide the directors and employees of the Group
to conduct business affairs in accordance with the highest business
ethical standards. The Group strives to preserve honesty, fairness and
impartiality. In accordance with the “Whistle-blowing Guideline”, all
employees can report for investigation any suspected bribery, extortion,
fraudulent and money laundering cases. Once confirmed, it will be
reported to the police or other regulatory bodies for prosecution. The
Group has also issued a “Policy on Advantages Handling” with regard
to guidelines for soliciting, accepting or offering advantages and gifts by
the directors and employees. The Policy also provides guidelines for the
avoidance of any potential conflicts of interest or breaches of any local
laws, rules or regulations.

The Group strictly complied with the aforesaid principle, relevant laws,
rules and regulations throughout the year ended 31 December 2018.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group is committed to participating in the community where we
operate with an aim to improve the community’'s wellbeing. Through
the hiring of locals using market compatible remuneration packages, the
Group is able to share its operational returns with the local community
and to contribute back to the society.

The Group will explore other means to contribute more to the
environment and society once the Group achieves higher profitability.
To create shared values with the community and stakeholders, the
Company will continue to consider ESG factors in selecting future
investment projects.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEHREE

The directors (the “Directors” or the “Board”) of China Renewable
Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”) have pleasure in
presenting to shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) their
report together with the audited financial statements of the Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Principal Activities and Geographical Analysis of
Operations

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activity
of the Group is renewable energy business. The activities of its principal
subsidiaries and associated companies are set out in pages 151 to 154
of the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the Group's
performance for the year ended 31 December 2018 by geographical
and business segments is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2018 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on pages
70to 71.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend of HKO0.4
cents (2017: HKO.4 cents) per ordinary share for the year ended 31
December 2018 to Shareholders whose names appear on the register
of members of the Company on Friday, 31 May 2019. Subject to the
approval of Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company which will be held on Monday, 20 May 2019 (the “2019
AGM"), the final dividend will be paid on Friday, 14 June 2019.

Business Review

Business Risk

As a long term investor-operator in the renewable energy sector, the
Group is subject to Chinese government supportive policies, climate,
economy and other execution risks.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Most of the Group's assets are denominated in Renminbi. The Group
conducts a majority of its business operations in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The major portion of revenue, expenses and
debts are denominated in Renminbi. Fluctuations in the exchange rates
of Renminbi would have limited impact on the Group's operations.
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Business Review (continued)

Compliance with the relevant laws and regulations

The Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations during
the year.

Relationships with Employees, Customers and Suppliers
The Group has a good relationship with its customers which are the
grid companies. Through regular communication channels, the Group
ensures the electricity dispatched can be invoiced. For the suppliers,
they are mainly the maintenance providers, they provide services to
our wind farms to ensure the safety systems and the wind farms are
operating reliably.

Please also refer to pages 9 to 12 for business review on the Group's
operation and wind farms.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in Note 13 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Share Capital
Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (“Articles of Association”) and there is no
restriction against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

Reserves

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year are set out in Note 22 and Note 31 respectively to the
consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2018,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands (as revised), amounted to HK$1,063.9 million (2017:
HK$1,089.9 million).
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Five-year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 155 to 156.

Donations
During the year, the Group made no charitable and other donations
(2017: Nil).

Directors
The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. OEl Kang, Eric (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel (Chief Financial Officer)
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. TIAN Yuchuan

Mr. ZHANG Songyi

At 2019 AGM, Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy and Mr. ZHANG Songyi
will retire from office by rotation in accordance with Article 85 of the
Articles of Association and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election to serve for another term.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) and the Company considers all of them to be independent.

Directors’ Service Contracts

No Director proposed for re-election at the 2019 AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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Share Option Schemes

The Company’s existing share option scheme was adopted on 27
May 2008 (the “CRE Option Scheme”). Particulars of the CRE Option
Scheme are set out below:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Purpose

The principal purposes are to recruit and retain high calibre Eligible
Persons (as defined below) and attract human resources that are
valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds an equity interest (“Invested Entity” or “Invested
Entities”), to recognise the significant contributions of the Eligible
Persons to the growth of the Group or Invested Entities by
rewarding them with opportunities to obtain ownership interest
in the Company and to further motivate and give incentives to
these Eligible Persons to continue to contribute to the long term
success and prosperity of the Group or Invested Entities.

Eligible Persons

Any employee (whether full time or part time), senior executive
or officer, manager, director (including executive, non-executive
and independent non-executive director) or consultant of any
members of the Group or any Invested Entity who, in the sole
discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute to the
growth and development of the Group or any Invested Entity.

Maximum number of shares available for issue
The CRE Option Scheme has been expired on 27 May 2018.

Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to
be issued upon exercise of options (whether exercised or
outstanding) granted in any 12-month period to:

(i)  each Eligible Person must not exceed 1% of the shares of
the Company in issue; and

(i) a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company must not exceed 0.1% of the
shares of the Company in issue and not exceed HK$5 million
in aggregate value.
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Share Option Schemes (continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

Period within which the shares must be taken up

under an option

An option must be exercised within ten years from the date
on which it is granted or such shorter period as the Board may
specify at the time of grant.

Minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held

At the time of the grant of an option, the Board must specify
the minimum period(s), if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised.

Period open for acceptance of an option and amount payable
upon acceptance

An offer of the grant of an option shall remain open for acceptance
for a period of ten business days from the date of offer and a
consideration of HK$1.0 must be paid upon acceptance.

Basis of determining the subscription price of an option

The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing
prices of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share.

Remaining life
CRE Option Scheme has a life of ten years and has been expired
on 27 May 2018.

No share option is outstanding under the CRE Option Scheme as at 27
May 2018.

No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled nor lapsed during the
year ended 31 December 2018 under the CRE Option Scheme.
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Directors’ Interests in Securities

At 31 December 2018, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation

(within the

meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance

(the “SFQ")) as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules adopted by the Company were as follows:

(i) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company:

ESRNEF2ER

RZZ—N\F+ZA=+—8 SFEEFERAEQ
AXEBTRABRARF S EALABBEE
(EERBHLBMEGI(TERRBEGRE])
EXVED) 2 Ietn - HEBRO REFTHEELE
LR AR BRI E 75 K R 1R B F 352 fF R
EATHEZECMzZEBRENAR  HER
BARRAMRAEN MRS+ ER LD
BITAESETERR HHRETA([1R2ET
Al 2 REHME AR B B Rz s SOk R
LI

(i)

REDTRG RAEBRG ZHFR

Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued
Nature of shares of share capital
Name of Director interest the Company of the Company
RSN
ARARBRG R RES#HITRA
EEpE EEME HERGEE BYBEIH
Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 1,826,026,937" 72.862
=Ml e 4 NS
Joint 41,661,4392 1.662
A
Notes: MisT -
1. Since as at 31 December 2018, HKC (Holdings) Limited (“HKC") was held 1. RIE-N\F+-_A=+—8 aaREBE
as to (i) approximately 65.551% by Claudio Holdings Limited (“Claudio”) HZER)ARAT(TESBEE]) A )Claudio
(via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator Holdings Limited (“Creator”) and Holdings Limited([ Claudio |)#5% #165.551%
Genesis Capital Group Limited (“Genesis")), a company wholly-owned by Mr. GEBEREWBARAZEEFESGR AT (A
OEl Kang, Eric; and (ii) approximately 3.265% by Great Nation International ZF|)RFRIEEABREAREAR])) - m
Limited (via its wholly-owned subsidiary, Genesis Ventures Limited (“Genesis ClaudioHEMISEE2EHA  K&(i)ETERE
Ventures”)), a company owned as to 50% by Mr. OEI Kang, Eric and as to the BRRATEBEAL3266%(FERASERBA
remaining 50% by his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau. As thus, Mr. OE| Kang, Eric REAIRIEIRERBRAR([FEAAZE]D) M
is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of the Company in EBIPREMEEHEB0% L B2 T50%HE
which HKC is interested. The corporate interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric includes ARz EFREL+HR - SMIEER
(i) an interest in 1,395,682,050 shares of the Company held by HKC; (i) an EANEEEREAESZR—HIAAT®
interest in 154,278,990 shares of the Company held by Creator; and (iii) an R EARER o« ZRILEA Y ARERBIENE
interest in 276,065,897 shares of the Company held by Genesis. BT 2 1,395,682,0650 0% A& A &) i #E
% (i) BIEFTH 2 154,278,990 R AN 12X AR (5
HE : R (i) ERIFTRE 2 276,065,897 A A F
fetrtgzs o
2. The joint interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents an interest in 41,661,439 2. EMEE HAESIERFEEREZZTFRE

shares of the Company jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau.

Z+HERFFHH 241,661,439 A& A w1 A1 1

e
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Directors’ Interests in Securities (continued)
(ii) Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of

ESNEZ2ERE)

(i) RAEDAEEEZERGREBERD 2

associated corporation of the Company: HE
Number of Approximate
shares and percentage of
underlying existing issued
Name of shares of share capital of
associated Nature of the associated the associated
corporation Name of Directors interest corporation corporation
AR EE L B
HEBCEE 2RO R RESRTREK
HEEEER EEER RERME HERCEE BHREDL
HKC (Holdings) Mr. OEl Kang, Eric Corporate 363,924,938' 68.816
Limited =Wl AE NG
BEER(ER) Joint 11,154,9872 2.109
BR A H*E
Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy  Personal 5,145,000° 0.973
EEREE EA
Notes: B -
1. The corporate interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents (i) an interest in 1. EMEAEZ AT EZEODEEREZ

203,445,407 shares of HKC held by Creator; (i) an interest in 143,212,531
shares of HKC held by Genesis; and (iii) an interest in 17,267,000 shares of
HKC held by Genesis Ventures.

203,445,407 R BB R MR DR ¢ () ZEEIFT
$52143,212, 631 IR E BB DR ¢ K i)
ERAI P45 217,267,000 BB Z R AHD
Mz o

2. The joint interest of Mr. OEI Kang, Eric represents an interest in 11,154,987 2. EMEE s HRAESIERERZEZEFIEL
shares of HKC jointly held with his wife, Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau. T HREEHE 211,164,987 R BB E R D
0
3. The personal interest of Mr. WONG Jake Leong, Sammy represents an 3. EFER S EZ A AEEIEND, 145,000 F %5
interest in 5,145,000 shares of HKC. BRI o
Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the Company, & FSCIEEE SN - RAEE NI AR - ARQ

A ARBZHBAR - ARMBLRR - 82
AR MR EB B BT M2 B E
ERARAEBTBRAB(BRREZEBR
1BRIAT 2 FLORART - RARIEALE
SEMERER 2 iy - HERHRES
BT ERAR

its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries, its parent company or its other
associated corporations a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors and chief executives of the Company (including their spouse
and children under 18 years of age) to hold any interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or its specified undertakings or other associated corporation.
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Directors’ Right to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed under the heading "“Directors’ Interests in Securities”
above, at no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that enabled the Directors or
any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or any other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Competing Businesses

None of the Directors or their respective associate(s) was interested in
any business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year.

Directors’ and Controlling Shareholders’ Interests in
Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and Note 28 “Related
party transactions” to the consolidated financial statements, the
transactions with HKC and its subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEI Kang,
Eric was interested, no contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities

As at 31 December 2018, the following persons (other than a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the
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Company

Approximate

Number of percentage of
shares and the existing
underlying issued share
shares of capital of
Name Nature of interest the Company the Company
ERDRRE
ARRZBRHB 2 BTRA
wa/EB EnME REERGHE BHOADL
Mrs. OEl Valonia Lau Family 1,826,026,937" 72.862
BEx+t ENi-3
Joint 41,661,439? 1.662
A
Claudio Holdings Limited Corporate 1,826,026,937° 72.862
/NS
HKC (Holdings) Limited Beneficial owner 1,395,682,050* 55.690
EHER(ER)ARAR ExREBA
Genesis Capital Group Limited Beneficial owner 276,065,397° 11.016
ZRIEEFRAA] ExnEEA
Creator Holdings Limited Beneficial owner 154,278,990° 6.156

RIEEEERAT
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests in Securities
(continued)
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company (continued)
Notes:

1. Mrs. OEIl Valonia Lau is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of
the Company in which Mr. OEI Kang, Eric is taken to be interested (as detailed in
“Directors’ Interests in Securities” section above).

2. The joint interest of Mrs. OEI Valonia Lau represents an interest in 41,661,439 shares
of the Company jointly held with Mr. OEI Kang, Eric.

3. Claudio is beneficially interested in 65.551% of the issued share capital of HKC
(via its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Creator and Genesis) and thus, is deemed to be
interested in the same parcel of shares of the Company in which HKC is interested.
In addition, as Creator and Genesis are wholly-owned subsidiaries of Claudio,
and thus, Claudio is deemed to be interested in the same parcel of shares of the
Company in which Creator and Genesis are interested.

4. The beneficial interest of HKC includes an interest in 1,395,682,050 shares of the

Company.

5 The beneficial interest of Genesis includes an interest in 276,065,897 shares of the
Company.

6. The beneficial interest of Creator includes an interest in 154,278,990 shares of the
Company.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2018, the Company had not
been notified by any person, other than Directors and chief executive
of the Company, who had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company which are required to record in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of Part
XV of the SFO.
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Use of proceeds from exercise of bonus warrants

On 19 May 2017, the Company issued 471,274,368 warrants (Warrant
Code: 1677) on the basis of one bonus warrant for every 5 existing
shares of the Company held by the shareholders of the Company
(the “"Bonus Warrant(s)"”). Each Bonus Warrant entitles its holder to
subscribe for one new ordinary share of HK$0.01 each in the share
capital of the Company (“new Shares”) at a subscription price of
HK$0.230 (subject to adjustment) at any time during 19 May 2017 to 18
May 2018. Details of issuance of Bonus Warrants were disclosed in the
announcements dated 14 March 2017, 28 April 2017 and 18 May 2017
(the "Announcements”) respectively and the circular in relation thereof
dated 13 April 2017 (the “Circular”).

The listing of the Bonus Warrants had been withdrawn from the Stock
Exchange after 4:00 p.m. on Friday, 18 May 2018 and there were
321,488,747 Bonus Warrants remained outstanding. Details of the
expiry and withdrawal of the listing of Bonus Warrants were disclosed
in the announcement dated 16 April 2018 and the circular in relation
thereof dated 19 April 2018.

From the date of issue of Bonus Warrants to 31 December 2018,
149,785,621 new Shares were issued upon the exercise of
149,785,621 Bonus Warrants by the shareholders of the Company. The
total subscription monies received amount to approximately HK$34.5
million have been used for financing the construction and operation of
the wind farm project in Songxian in accordance with the intended uses
as disclosed in the Circular.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company's listed securities during the year ended
31 December 2018.
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Management Contract
Apart from those disclosed under the heading “Related Party
Transactions” in Note 28 to the consolidated financial statements, no
contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The percentages of the Group's purchases and sales for the year
attributable to its major suppliers and customers are as follows:

Purchases
The largest supplier 10%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate 29%

Sales

During the year, the Group had three customers only and the
percentages of the Group's sales attributable to the major customers
are as follows:

64%
36%

The largest customer
The remaining customers

None of the Directors, any of their associates, or Shareholders (which to
the knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any interest in the Group’s customers and
suppliers noted above.

Corporate Governance
The Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 21 to 41.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct
regarding Directors’ securities transactions. Specified employees who
are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of
the Group are also subject to compliance with guidelines on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code. A Code for Securities Dealings by
Employees has also been adopted in this regard.
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Retirement Benefits Schemes
Information on the Group’s retirement benefits schemes is set out in
Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this report,
there is sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company's
issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director and other officers
of the Company shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of
the assets and profits of the Company from and against all actions,
costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she may
incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his/her office
or otherwise in relation thereto, provided that the indemnity shall not
extend to any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may
attach to any of said persons. The Company has arranged appropriate
liability insurance to indemnify the Group's Directors for their liabilities
arising out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage is reviewed
on an annual basis.

Review of the Annual Report by Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company currently comprises three
independent non-executive Directors with written terms of reference in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules, and reports to
the Board.

The audit committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year have been audited by
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of
Messrs. PricewaterhouseCoopers as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the 2019 AGM.
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Update on Directors’ Information

Pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, change in the
information of the Directors since the date of the 2018 Interim Report is
set out below:

Mr. OEI Kang, Eric
(Executive Director, Chairman & Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. OEl was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee and
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 20 March
2019.

On behalf of the Board

China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

OEIl Kang, Eric

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

HONG KONG, 20 MARCH 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RENEWABLE ENERGY
INVESTMENT LIMITED
(incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Renewable Energy
Investment Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”)
set out on pages 70 to 154 which comprise:

° the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

° the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended,;

° the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

° the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include
a summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2018, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:
- Impairment assessment of property, plant and equipment,

intangible assets and prepaid land lease payments related to
power plants in the Mainland China.
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bt VA
BREEZEGTMASHEMN(EXSFENER
STRDUA TR PRI - BABILIN E%
- WEETTAIFNEMERBRAL -

FRETTSER
RETFEERBRMNERAE - RRY
ARG EMBRENEITRRERNTR &
LEEEERMBABBRAMBHRRLLA
BREETRIEN - R TS ELFREHR
BEREONEA -

BAERT T EpI R E FEBA T
- BEPBEAEHERARNYE - #a

K& BEEEANEMN LA ERK
TRAETTRERE ©



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
RS G

Key Audit Matters (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BRESE

FEBLLRREARAT 65
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BRETEH)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
RN ET N RERRET SR

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments related to power plants in the Mainland
China

PEARENZEMARENYE  BERRE  BREEN
RIAEM L HEFGETRENMS

Refer to note 2.9 and 4a to the consolidated financial
statements
B A M ERNE2.9%4a

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s non-current assets
principally comprised property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and prepaid land lease payments related
to power plants in the Mainland China.
RZZE—N\FF+ZA=1+—H ' BEXENFERDHEEE
ERF/PEAENEEMABBAYE - EELRE - B
BERENTHEER -

Management assessed whether there was any
impairment of the carrying values of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land lease
payments by calculating the recoverable amount under
value-in-use method. The impairment assessment
reguires management to exercise significant management
judgement and estimates, among other things,
estimating correspondingly tariff rates, future sales
volume and discount rate.
ERERBRACABEA AT ERDKSE - FTEY
¥ HEKRRE BEREENKREN T HEERNREE
RRFEEMAE - REMEERERBELERERH
ErAfhEt - EhEEMAHEEEE - RIRHEERUEX -

Our procedures in relation to management’'s impairment
assessment of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets and prepaid land lease payments related to relevant
power plants in the Mainland China included:
MEREHFBRAENFEERMBAADE  HSRERE &
A ERIEN T B EFCETRIE 2 BT 28
e

o Assessed the impairment assessment methodology
used by the management to estimate value in use;

HREREAGEEREERRANGTEETIE

° Assessed the reasonableness of the key assumptions
based on our knowledge of the relevant business and
industry and with the involvement of our valuations
specialists;

ERBPIEEBRBENITEN THREREMANMGERER
R - BEASRRER SR HEITAE

° Reconciled input data to supporting evidence,
such as approved budgets and considered the
reasonableness of these budgets;
BRABRES FIUEZ R (e ENTEE ) #E1TH
g - WHRIRLTRE NS IR

° Evaluated the management’s sensitivity analysis to
assess the potential impact of reasonable possible
downside changes in the key assumptions.
HEEEEH OGRS THEITAE - ART(H AR
BHREEAREN TN L 2 BELE

We found the assumptions made by management in
relation to the value in use assessment to be supportable
based on available evidence.

RIFREERE - HMAER - EREHEREENME T EME
HERE SR FF o

The significant inputs have been appropriately disclosed in
note 4a.

RSB ERABBE AN TP S ERKE -
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Other Information
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. WWe have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Those Charged with
Governance for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and that comply with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance
of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. \We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Pong Fei Ho.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 20 March, 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

8 AL = N2
mEZHERERXR
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T—\F+-A=1+—BLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
b FET FHET
Revenue & 5 149,496 131,343
Cost of sales SHEE R 6 (97,643) (85,661)
Gross profit EX 51,853 45,682
Other income =R PN 5 6,586 12,319
Administrative expenses 1T E R 6 (29,670) (25,325)
Operating profit Feg— il 28,769 32,676
Finance income BRI A 7 3,183 2,545
Finance costs BhE A AN 7 (28,693) (32,487)
Finance costs — net BUE AN — F58 7 (25,510) (29,942)
Share of profits less losses of FEAG B2 2 B) 5 B BB 18
associates 17 69,007 67,580
Profit before income tax FR8BLAT T 72,266 70,314
Income tax expense FiS Rz i 10 (9,313) (9,364)
Profit for the year REEZBF 62,953 60,950
Other comprehensive (loss)/income H#2HE (E518) WA
[tems that may be reclassified AIRHEEET I EEER Y
subsequently to profit or loss TEH
Currency translation differences of AKATIRENBATZ
the Company and its subsidiaries [ERE =58 (45,124) 55,279
Currency translation differences of BN a2 EHIRE =5
associates (46,403) 68,637
Other comprehensive (loss)/income ZAFERM2E(EE) WA -
for the year, net of tax HBRFLIE (91,527) 123,916
Total comprehensive (loss)/income ZAEEZE(EE) WARLE
for the year (28,574) 184,866
Profit attributable to: LU EAE&R
Equity holders of the Company AARERFFEA 62,254 60,330
Non-controlling interests FEPERAR MR 699 620
62,953 60,950
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T N\FEH
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FETHBERBRE
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-_ZT—\E+-_A=+—RALEFE
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$°000 HK$'000
b FET FHET
Total comprehensive (loss)/income LA TREL2E(EE), KA
attributable to: .
Equity holders of the Company AARERFTEA (29,346) 184,413
Non-controlling interests ESEd g £ 772 453
(28,574) 184,866
Earnings per share attributable to KEERDQCERFEAEMN
equity holders of the Company BRER(BRUBWSIR)
for the year (expressed in HK cents
per share)
Basic earnings per share BRERBF 11(a) 2.54 2.56

Diluted earnings per share EREBERERN 11(b) 2.54 2.54
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REBEERER

As at 31 December 2018
R=ZZE—N\F+=-A=+—8

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
FisE FET FHET
ASSETS EE
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment W% - B RERE 13 825,547 911,598
Construction in progress TEEIRR 14 321,004 36,089
Prepaid land lease payments A L ER 15 10,257 11,925
Intangible assets EREE 16 4,614 5,392
Prepayments and other receivables FEAT SR B B At IR 18 59,749 166,411
Interests in associates REE RN R Z 17 884,894 931,364
Total non-current assets FRBEELRE 2,106,065 2,062,779
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 6,728 9,050
Trade and other receivables J7E Lk B 3k K% ELth i LR 18 204,986 117,730
Restricted cash SR HIR & 20 2,391 -
Short-term bank deposits R ERERTTIF K 19 43,656 -
Cash and cash equivalents HeRBEEEY 20 161,585 300,060
_Totalcurrentassets nBEERE 0 M9ss 426,840
Total assets EEHE 2,525,411 2,489,619
EQUITY xR
Capital and reserves attributable to ZRATEBIFEAREEERR
equity holders of the Company #E
Share capital & 21 25,062 23,647
Reserves i 22 1,703,504 1,721,779
Equity attributable to AT ERFEAELER
equity holders of the Company 1,728,566 1,745,426
Non-controlling interests IR R (1,297) (2,069)
Total equity REREE 1,727,269 1,743,357
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—F\FER
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
meEEERER
As at 31 December 2018
R=F—N\F+=-A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
b FET FHET
LIABILITIES =V
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Bank borrowings RITER 23 383,450 351,335
Deferred income tax liabilities RIEFSHAE 25 31,270 32,772
Total non-current liabilities FRBEEEE 414,720 384,107
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables FEA BRFR I EL M R 3R 26 63,207 46,958
Current portion of bank borrowings SRITIE SRENEREL 23 122,510 88,931
Amount due to a shareholder FEN—Z R IA 24 197,511 226,169
Current income tax liabilities BIEAFTSFi B & 194 97
Total current liabilities RE R EAE 383,422 362,155
Total liabilities EEEE 798,142 746,262
Total equity and liabilities EEkBEREE 2,525,411 2,489,619
OEIl Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
=/ RER
Director Director

EF EF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
GARERDE
AT

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RARERNE AL
Non-
Share  Exchange Retained controlling Total
Share capital premium reserve earnings Total interests equity

Bx  RiteE  EXRE  RERN BE FEREE  ER4E
HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000
TiEn TEn Thn T TiEn TEn TEn

Balance at 1 January 2017 RZB-tF-F-AzEs 23,564 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,566,193 (2522) 1,563,671

Profit for the year KEERR - - - 60,330 60,330 620 60,950
Other comprehensive income: ~ Eft2EMWA :
Currency translation differences of ~ ZAFIREMBAT L

the Company and its subsidiaries ~ EXBE =5 - - 55,446 - 55,446 (167) 55,279
Currency translation BENFZERBEES
differences of associates - - 68,637 - 68,637 - 68,637
Total comprehensive income ~ 2EyALE .. 60330 A3 463 14866
Transactions with owners BEEARTZRS
Dividend paid ENRE - - - (7,094) (7,094) - (7,094)
Exercise of warrants {7l AR 83 1831 - - 1914 - 1914

Balance at 31 December 2017  W=Z—-+&+=-f=+-H

28 23,647 894,736 66,398 760645  1,745426 (2,069) 1,743,357
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZB-NE-F-AzEs 23,647 894,736 66,398 760,645 1,745,426 (2,069) 1,743,357
Profit for the year KEERR - - - 62,254 62,254 699 62,953

Other comprehensive income: ~ Eft2EUA :
Currency translation differences of ~ RARIREWBRRZ

the Company and its subsidiaries ~ EX E =% - - (45,197) - (45,197) 73 (45,124)
Currency translation BENR ERREEE
differences of associates - - (46,403) - (46,403) - (46,403)
Totalcomprehensiveincome  SEMASE ToD Moo G225 @ TRz (85M)
Transactions with owners REEARTZRS
Dividend paid RS - - - (20,049) (20,049) - (20,049)
Exercise of warrants TP RmER 1415 31,120 - - 32535 - 32,535

Balance at 31 December 2018 ~ W=Z-\E+=f=+-H
2t 25,062 925,856 (25,202) 802,850 1,728,566 (1,297) 1,727,269




CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

AN L=
MERERER
For the year ended 31 December 2018
HE-T—\F+-A=1+—BLEE

SEI A R A T 75
—T— \EER

2018 2017
—E-)N\F T —tF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bi5E FHET FHT
Cash flows from operating activities K& EFH2RLHRE
Cash generated from operations KEMSRE 29 56,996 162,249
Mainland China taxation paid BT B KRER A (5,843) (9,285)
Net cash generated from operating KETEEATSIR 55
activities 51,153 152,964
Cash flows from investing activities REFZFHZHEERE
Interest received EHFIE 3,045 2,626
Additions to prepayments AN=REUN B (257) (156,476)
Purchase of property, plant and AW -« #E R
equipment (11,497) (23,069)
Purchase of construction in progress B AfriE T2 (184,684) (28,862)
Purchase of intangible assets BAELEE (210) (42)
Proceeds from non-current prepayment 3E;7RENFE AT 2008 1,188 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEMSE W REREERIE
plant and equipment - 55
Dividend received from BUEE A RIS
associated company 7,278 -
Increase in restricted cash PR IR S 1 0 (2,391) -
(Increase)/decrease in short-term bank 58 838R7 TR (3L HN),F 4
deposits (43,656) 13,475
Net cash used in investing activities AR AIR S F5E (231,184) (192,293)
Cash flows from financing activities ®EEE>HLSRE
Proceeds from exercise of share TR D RARIERE < FT1S 3R
warrants 32,535 1,914
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to  JET IR E ZIBCR4>), 180
a shareholder (25,000) 220,000
Drawdown of bank borrowings RHRTTE 181,340 28,290
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (85,379) (89,088)
Interest paid EAFE (40,121) (26,855)
Dividend paid BfIE (20,049) (7,094)
Net cash generated from financing BB SEFPTEIN S FRE
activities 43,326 127,167
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and BRERFELZEEBYWOREL) M
cash equivalents HE (136,705) 87,838
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January W—A—B 27 KIEESZEY 300,060 200,704
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [& &) 74 (1,770) 11,518
Cash and cash equivalents at RT+-A=+t—H2Z2HEK
31 December HEZEEY 161,585 300,060
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General information
China Renewable Energy Investment Limited (the “Company”
or "CRE") is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman
Islands with limited liability. The address of the registered office
is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
principally engaged in renewable energy business. The Group has
operations mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “"PRC").

The shares of the Company are listed on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the Stock Exchange”).
The ultimate holding company is Claudio Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars (HK$ thousand or
HK$'000), unless otherwise stated. These consolidated financial
statements were approved for issue by the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) on 20 March 2019.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated.

— R
REBERERREGR AR AAR K
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of CRE have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRS"”) and disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the Group's
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

(a) New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations adopted by the Group

Amendments to Transfers of Investment Property
HKAS 40

Amendments to Classification and Measurement of
HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment Transactions

Amendments to Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
HKFRS 4 with HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with

Customers

Amendments to Clarifications to HKFRS 15
HKFRS 15

Annual Improvements to  Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle

HK(IFRIC)- Foreign Currency Transactions and

Interpretation 22 Advance Consideration
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations adopted by the Group (continued)

(i)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments — Impact of
adoption

HKFRS 9 replaces the whole of HKAS 39 which
addresses the classification, measurement and
derecognition of financial assets and financial
liabilities, introduces new rules for hedge
accounting and a new impairment model for
financial assets.

All of the Group’s financial assets and financial
liabilities were carried at amortised costs without
significant impairment on the former, the
implementation of HKFRS 9 does not result in
any significant impact on the Group’s financial
position and results of operations.

Impairment

The Group's financial assets classified at
amortised cost, including trade and other
receivables are subject to the new expected
credit loss model for impairment assessment.
The adoption of the new impairment model as at
1 January 2018 has not resulted in any material
impact on the carrying amount of the Group's
financial assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(a) New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations adopted by the Group (continued)

(ii)

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers — Impact of adoption

HKFRS 15 replaces HKAS 18 which covers
contracts for goods and services. The Group
has adopted HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers from 1 January 2018. The Group
has elected to apply the modified retrospective
approach by adjusting opening retained earnings
when it adopted HKFRS 15 effective on 1 January
2018 without restatement of prior periods.

Revenue from sales of electricity is recognised
at the point in time of transfer of ownership. As a
result, the adoption of HKFRS 15 does not have
any impact on the Group’s revenue recognition
and therefore adjustments of the Group's
opening retained earnings to reflect the adoption
of HKFRS 15 is not required.

Other than HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15, the adoption of
these amendments to standards and interpretations
does not have any significant impact on the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved) 2 FESHHEME &)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.1 mBEEEE)

(b) New standards, amendments to standards and (b) HR=T—N\E—A—HHHK
interpretations have been issued but are not 2 BEED BAEERE
effective for the financial year beginning on 1 MBINERR B 2 IE
January 2018 and have not been early adopted Al - EAHEFT R 2R
The following standards, amendments to standards KNTREEMEVEE=-F
and interpretations have been published and are —NF—A—BxAERE
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2018 and have not been early adopted
(continued)

The Group has not early adopted the new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations, which
have been issued but are not effective for the financial
year beginning on 1 January 2018. Further information
about those new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations that are not yet effective
but are expected to be applicable to the Group is set
out below:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 was issued in January 2016. It will result
in almost all leases being recognised on the balance
sheet, as the distinction between operating and
finance leases is removed. Under the new standard,
an asset (the right to use the leased item) and a
financial liability to pay rentals are recognised. The only
exceptions are short-term and low-value leases.

The accounting for lessors will not significantly
change.

The standard will affect primarily the accounting for
the Group’'s operating leases. As at the reporting
date, the Group has non-cancellable operating lease
commitments of HK$8.6 million. Based on the
current assessment, it is estimated that the change in
accounting for the Group's operating leases will not
result in a significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 is mandatory for the first annual reporting
period beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The
Group intends to apply the simplified transition
approach and will not restate comparative amounts for
the year prior to first adoption. The Group has not early
adopted HKFRS 16 for the year ended 31 December
2018.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)

New standards, amendments to standards and
interpretations have been issued but are not
effective for the financial year beginning on 1
January 2018 and have not been early adopted
(continued)

There are no other standards that are not yet effective
and that would be expected to have a material impact
on the entity in the current or future reporting periods
and on foreseeable future transactions.

2.2 Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and all its subsidiaries made up
to 31 December.

(a)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured
entity) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or
has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of
accounting to account for business combinations.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group.
The consideration transferred includes the fair value
of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs
are expensed as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at their
fair values at the acquisition date.

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are measured
at their acquisition date fair value, unless another
measurement basis is required by HKFRS.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous
equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of
the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the net
assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a
bargain purchase, the difference is recognised directly
in profit or loss.

In the Company's balance sheet, investments in
subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment.
It is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration
arising from contingent consideration amendments.
The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of
the investment in the separate financial statements
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee's net assets
including goodwill.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting
policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(b)

(c)

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the
owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as owners.
The difference between fair value of any consideration
paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying
value of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in
equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling
interests are also recorded in equity.

Disposal of subsidiaries

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained
interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in
carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes
of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.
In addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of that
entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may
mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or
loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(d)

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and
50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of
accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount
is increased or decreased to recognise the investor's
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the
date of acquisition. The Group’'s investment in
associates include goodwill identified on acquisition.
Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in an
associate, any difference between the cost of the
associate and the Group's share of the net fair value
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is
accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate
share of the amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss
where appropriate.

The Group's share of its associates’ post-acquisition
profits or losses is recognised in profit or loss, and
its share of post-acquisition movements in other
comprehensive income is recognised in other
comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment.
When the Group's share of losses in an associate
equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group
does not recognise further losses, unless it has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made
payments on behalf of the associate.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.2 Consolidation (continued)

(d)

Associates (continued)

The Group determines at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence that the investment in
the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group
calculates the amount of impairment as the difference
between the recoverable amount of the associate and
its carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
o “share of profits less losses of associates” in the
income statement.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in the associates. Unrealised losses
are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

Dilution gains and losses arising in investments in
associates are recognised in profit or loss.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount
and are recognised within other income or other and
general expenses in profit or loss.

2.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the
operating segments, has been identified as the Group's
most senior executive management that makes strategic
decisions.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (“the functional currency”). The
Group’s functional currency is Renminbi and the
Group’s presentation currency is Hong Kong dollars
to facilitate analysis of the financial information of the
Group, which is listed in Hong Kong.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation
where items are remeasured. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in
the profit or loss.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions); and
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.4 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(c)

(d)

Group companies (continued)

(iii)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Goodwill and
fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated
at the closing rate. Cumulative exchange
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of significant influence over an
associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the
currency translation differences accumulated in equity
in respect of that operation attributable to the equity
holders of the Company are reclassified to profit or
loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share
of accumulated currency translation differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial
disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s ownership
interest in associates that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence) the proportionate share
of the accumulated currency translation difference is
reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2
2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, comprising leasehold
improvements, plant and machinery, motor vehicles and
furniture, fixtures and equipment are stated at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method, to write off their cost less the
residual values over their estimated useful lives or remaining
useful lives for those second-hand assets and the estimated
useful lives are as follows:

Electricity utility plants  Shorter of the remaining operation
period or 20 years

Other plant and 5 years
machinery

Leasehold Shorter of the remaining lease
improvements period or 5 years

Furniture, fixtures and  3-5 years
equipment

Motor vehicles 3-5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

Subsequent costs are included in the carrying amount of the
asset or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated
with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
charged in profit or loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is
greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised
within other income or other and general expenses in profit
or loss.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.6

2.7

2.8

Construction in progress

Costs directly attributable to the construction of property,
plant and equipment including borrowing costs during
the construction period are capitalised as the costs of the
assets, which are classified as construction in progress.
On completion, the construction in progress is transferred
to property, plant and equipment at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. No depreciation is provided on
construction in progress until such items as the relevant
assets are completed and available for intended use.

Prepaid land lease payments

Prepaid land lease payments represent prepayments for
leasehold land held under operating leases, which are stated
at cost and subsequently are amortised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the period of the lease or when there
is impairment, the impairment is expensed in profit or loss.

Intangible assets

(a) Concession right
Concession right acquired in a business combination
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. The
concession right has a finite useful life and is carried
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method over its concession right period of shorter of
the remaining operation period or 20 years.

(b) Computer software
Computer software separately acquired is shown
at historical cost. Computer software acquired in a
business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate the cost of computer
software over its estimated useful live of 2-5 years.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

2.9

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount
is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and
value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date.

2.10 Investments and other financial assets

(a) Classification
From 1 January 2018, the Group classifies its financial
assets as financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the
group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the financial assets have expired or
have been transferred and the group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset.

The Group subsequently measures all financial assets
at amortised cost. Dividends from such investments
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other
income when the Group’s rights to receive payments
is established.

Impairment

From 1 January 2018, the Group applies the simplified
approach on assessing the expected credit losses
associated with trade receivables as permitted by
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 18 for further details.

Accounting policies applied until 31 December
2017

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 retrospectively, but
has elected not to restate comparative information.
As a result, the comparative information provided
continues to be accounted for in accordance with the
Group's previous accounting policy.

Until 31 December 2017, the Group classifies its
financial assets in the following categories: loans
and receivables. The classification depends on the
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its
financial assets at initial recognition.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved) 2 FEEHBEBE &)
2.10 Investments and other financial assets (continued) 210 RERHMEMEE (&)
(e) Accounting policies applied until 31 December (e) BZ=—ZFE—t&F+=A8

2017 (continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial
assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. They are included in
current assets, except for the amounts that are settled
or expected to be settled more than twelve months
after the balance sheet date. These are classified as
non-current assets. The Group's loans and receivables
comprises “trade and other receivables”, “cash and
cash equivalents”, “short-term bank deposits” and
“restricted cash” in the consolidated balance sheet.

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade-date — the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership. Loans and receivables are subsequently
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.11 Financial guarantee policy

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the
issuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder
for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make
payments when due, in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. Such financial guarantees are given to
banks, financial institutions and other bodies on behalf of
subsidiaries or associates to secure loans, overdrafts and
other banking facilities.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial
statements at fair value on the date the guarantee was
given. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group's
liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher
of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised
and the best estimate of the amount required to settle
the guarantee. These estimates are determined based
on experience of similar transactions and history of past
losses, supplemented by management’s judgement. The
fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the life of the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating
to guarantees is reported in the profit or loss within other
operating expenses.

2.12 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable
selling expenses.

2.13 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course of
business. They are generally due for settlement within 30
days.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount
of consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivables with
the objective to collect the contractual cash flows and
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. See Note 18 for
further information about the Group’s accounting for trade
receivables and Note 3.1 for a description of the Group's
impairment policies.

2

FESHBERBE®)
2.11 BIIERBUGR

MBERA DI RITAARKE
TE BT ARBEARBIE R T RH 5K
XA BIBEBR RS HRFE AX
MiEERBEAENEIBRNALH
ZEM B RRTIR KRB A 7S
BRRRTIRT - SREEREM
BEBLAEREER - B REMIR
18 »

MBERNFEERRERZAOA
FERMBHREPHER - YPHER
% AEERZREFRTHNEER
VIS R C R R A - &
BNEREBAT BN RERT
MR EEE - RS IRER
AR 5 8 5 NB 1 B 1R IR St 30 35 LA
EEENHEMEE - IR E
PR AR B AR ORI R ORI 7 A
R o A EERE R EAE I E R
REBRRERREMEERS -

212 78

FERKRAER B FEIRES
SRR o BANIASEHESEHIERERE © 7]
BRFEREREXBBREP G
FHHEERERCEHIHEER -

FE U AR

FEWER AR AR B L EB TR
an $5 SRS AT I B UL B P HO 5K
A - RUSBRFUBENI0A REH -

YRR IR BRI ESNHESHE
ETVIRER  EEEESEAR
BRAE - RATEETIRE
R AEERFAREEFTNE N
WBERRERE - FREREH
BERFZOXZ # A A AT B R R
Ko ARASBRYSRI G R IE
MEZER  F2AME18- B
RAEERERSE - F2RME
3.1 ®



NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.14 Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially measured at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less.

2.16 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

2.17 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the
balance sheet date in the countries where the Company's
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.
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Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.17 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill, the deferred income tax is not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates,
except for deferred tax liability where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax
assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred
income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable
entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2
2.18 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down
occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee
is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity services and
amortised over the period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

2.19 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale,
are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any
qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time
that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its
intended use. Other borrowing costs are expensed.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
2.20 Employee benefits

(a)

(b)

Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

Defined contribution plans

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme (“MPF") and employee pension schemes
established by municipal government in the PRC for
the eligible employees in Hong Kong and the PRC
respectively.

The Group’s and the employees’ contributions to the
MPF comply with the related statutory requirements.
The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The Group's
contributions to the MPPF are expensed as incurred and
are not reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave MPF prior to vesting fully in the
contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as
an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction
in the future payments is available. The assets of
MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
independently administered funds.

The Group’s contribution to the employee pension
schemes in the PRC is at a percentage in compliance
with the requirements of respective municipal
governments.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2
2.20 Employee benefits (continued)

(c) Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated by the Group before the normal retirement
date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary
redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group
recognises termination benefits at the earlier of the
following dates: (a) when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits; and (b) when
the entity recognises costs for a restructuring that is
within the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer made
to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination
benefits are measured based on the number of
employees expected to accept the offer. Benefits
falling due more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period are discounted to their present value.

2.21 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it
is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount
can be made. In respect of the potential obligations to
dismantle the wind farms at the end of their useful lives,
the Group would assess the obligations continuously based
on the latest changes in the laws and regulations and make
provision when the recognition criteria are met.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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FESHBERBE®)
2.22 W=

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 2
2.22 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the provision of services in the
ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown
net of value-added tax within the Group and after eliminating
sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue
can be reliably measured, it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been
met for each of the Group’s activities as described below.
The amount of revenue is not considered to be reliably
measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have
been resolved. The Group bases its estimates on historical
results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the
type of transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

Revenue from renewable energy refers to power
dispatched during commercial operation. Revenue from
sales of electricity is recognised at a point of time when
it is transferred to the customers. Commercial operation
starts upon obtaining a Power Purchase Agreement,
safety certificate from the State Electricity Regulatory
Commission (“SERC") or Provincial Grid Authority, and 240
hours commissioning. Revenue attributable to the sales of
electricity generated during construction and testing period
is not included in the electricity sales revenue, but is offset
against the cost of property, plant and equipment.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continved) 2 FEEHBEBE &)

2.23 Operating leases as lessee 2.23 REHEE(EREBEAN)
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and HHEREEERBEZBATY
rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are B kEdHR o EE - HEREEAKE
classified as operating leases. Payments made under HE  -RELEHEXN 25IE
operating leases (net of any incentives received from the (EHkr e HAFEWRER ZEAER
lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line BIREERANEREZERRSR
basis over the period of the lease. Bk ©

2.24 Contingent liabilities 224 AREE
A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from FABERAAECEEZEHMmMA
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed eS|l EE MEFERERSE
by the occurrence of one or more uncertain future events BT HIEE AN —Rel % R AE
not wholly within the control of the Group. It can also ERREMHBELESTBEZIFERAT
be a present obligation arising from past events that is R ABENAJEEERAE %
not recognised because it is not probable that outflow EvEE4S R IEEET  BER
of economic resources will be required or the amount of TR BHEBEE ML - B E
obligation cannot be measured reliably. BRERBE A ST 2 M TEMER
A contingent liability is not recognised but is disclosed in HABBEITSWHER  BESELRE
the notes to the consolidated financial statements. When B mRM TR HE - MEEBRR
a change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that the Yl ee Mk S E R e HIRE R
outflow is probable, it will then be recognised as a provision. T RS sk AR B SRR AEYE -

2.25 Dividend distribution 2.25 kR E
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is AR R B R R A 2 B B R Bt R
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company's MBI EAEE R ARAR 2
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are SRR PR AR -
approved.

2.26 Interest income 2.26 FE WA
Interest income is calculated by applying the effective FMEWARERFNEFRASHEE
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset BRAAARETE  RESHA AR
except for financial assets that subsequently become credit- ENESREERIN - BEEHRE
impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective e REENMERA - BT
interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of the EEUEHEERBDEEREERK

financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance). BB R FEEE -
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Financial risk management

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
market risk (including foreign exchange risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s major financial
instruments include trade and other receivables, restricted
cash, short-term bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other payables, bank borrowings and amount due
to a shareholder. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes.

It is the policy of the Group not to enter into derivative
transactions for speculative purposes.

The Board focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on
the Group's financial performance. The Board reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they
are summarised below:

(a) Market risk
(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates mainly in Hong Kong and
Mainland China and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from future commercial
transactions and monetary assets and liabilities
that are denominated in a currency that is not the
Group’s functional currency.

The Group currently does not have any
foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management of the Group monitors the foreign
exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure
should the need arise.

As at 31 December 2018, if US dollars and Hong
Kong dollars had strengthened/weakened by
5% against Renminbi respectively, with all other
variables held constant, the Group's profit before
tax would have been HK$6.1 million lower/higher
respectively (2017: HK$0.9 million lower/higher).
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

3.1

(a)

(b)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’'s main interest rate risk arises
from bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder with variable rates, which expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The
Group's results and operating cash flows are
dependent on changes in market interest rates.

The Group does not use any derivative contracts
to hedge its exposure to interest rate risk.
However, management will consider hedging
significant interest rate exposures should the
need arise.

As at 31 December 2018, if interest rates had
been 100 (2017: 100) basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the
Group's profit before income tax would have
decreased/increased by HK$4.0 million (2017:
HK$5.1 million).

Credit risk

The Group is exposed to credit risk in its short-
term bank deposits, restricted cash, cash and cash
equivalents, prepayments and trade and other
receivables, and financial guarantee provided for a
credit facility granted to an associate.

The carrying amounts of short-term bank deposits,
restricted cash, cash and cash equivalents and trade
and other receivables represent the Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

Risk Management

To manage the credit risk associated with
short-term bank deposits, restricted cash, cash
and cash equivalents, most of the deposits
are placed with certain state-owned banks in
the PRC which are high-credit-quality financial
institutions and banks with high credit rankings
in Hong Kong.
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Financial risk management (Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Risk Management (Continued)

To manage the credit risk associated with trade
and other receivables, the Group adopts risk
control measures to assess the credit quality,
to determine credit limits and approve credit of
customers, taking into account their financial
position and past experience. The Group has
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up
action is taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group is exposed to significant concentration
of credit risk in terms of electricity sales as most
of the Group’s sales of electricity were made to
state-owned provincial power grid companies.
The Group normally does not require collateral
from trade debtors. It normally grants credit
terms of 30 days to these power grid companies.
However, part of the trade receivables, including
those held through associates, due from the
power grid companies relate to government
subsidy which are subject to the government
allocation of the tariff surcharge for renewable
energy. Based on past experience and industry
practice, these tariff premiums are generally paid
in 6 to 12 months from the date of the sales
recognition, though it may take longer to get paid
in some circumstances where the government
needs more time to allocate the tariff subsidies.
Ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables
is disclosed in Note 18. Management makes
periodic collective assessment as well as
individual assessment of the recoverability of
trade and other receivables based on historical
payment records, the length of the overdue
period, the financial strength of the debtors and
whether there are any disputes with the relevant
debtors.
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

3.1

(b)

(i)

Impairment of financial asset

While short-term deposits, restricted cash and
cash and cash equivalents are also subject
to impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared
credit risk characteristics and the days past due.
The Group has therefore concluded that the
expected loss rates for trade receivables are a
reasonable approximation.

The expected loss rates are based on the
payment profiles of customers and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced
within this period. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on the inflation rate and the economic
environment of the PRC.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued) 3 HBERERE®)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBEBEEE)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) fEERRE)
(iy  Impairment of financial asset (Continued) iy =HEEZREGE)
Trade receivables (Continued) FEURBR TR (48)
On that basis, the provision for impairment of Bl RZZEE—N\F
trade receivables as at 31 December 2018 and +-—A=+—8Kk=_F
1 January 2018 (on adoption of HKFRS 9) was —NFE—A—B(HH
determined by aged group: B 75 R 25 2 I 58 9 S 4%
498 ) FEUER KA R A
BEHDEERAERNE
T -
31 December 1 January
2018 2018
—E-N\F —E-N\E§
+=Z—B=+—H —HA—H
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Not yet due K80 B 24,898 15,029
Past due for: B2EE
Less than 30 days LH30H 6,656 2,147
More than 30 days and BiB3081EMR60H A
within 60 days 6,424 -
More than 60 days and HiB60HEMR90H RN
within 90 days 3,093 -
More than 90 days B0 H 20,176 -
61,247 17,176
(c) Liquidity risk (c) RBESER

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to
meet its current obligations when they fall due. The
Group measures and monitors its liquidity through the
maintenance of prudent ratios regarding the liquidity
structure of the overall assets, liabilities, loans and
commitments of the Group. The Group also maintains
a conservative level of liquid assets to ensure the
availability of sufficient cash flows to meet any
unexpected and material cash requirements in the
course of ordinary business.

During the year, the Group complied with all externally
imposed loan covenant requirements to which it is
subject to.
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Financial risk management (Continued)
Financial risk factors (Continued)

3.1

(d)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities at the balance sheet
date. The table has been drawn up with reference
to the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group is
required to pay. Except for bank borrowings, balances
due within 12 months equal their carrying balances as
the impact of discounting is not significant.

FEBLERRAERAT 107
B \FER

3 UBEREE
3.1 BBEBEREGE)

(d) RBEEERGE)
TRHFVNAEERGEER S
BEEZAENIHA - TX
SESBMABZAMRARS
mMERAEEAEERBK
R &P AHMmMAESR - FRIR
TTHEFI  BRBERTET
R BRT-EARZHZ
RSN ERREE

Less than Between Between
1year 1and2years 2and5years Over5 years Total
—fR —-EC-F ZZhE RENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAT THT THET THT
At31 December 2018 RA=Z—/\F+=AH
=1+-8
Bank borrowings RITER 147,097 116,982 217,550 115,144 596,773
Trade and other payables &} BR 7 R L ft B 34 63,207 - - - 63,207
Amount due to R —aRkRHE
a shareholder 197,511 - - - 197,511
Financial guarantee HBER 81,979 - - - 81,979
At31 December 2017  RA=Z—+F+-A
=1+-H
Bank borrowings BTN 111,282 120,640 221,718 57,432 511,072
Trade and other payables & BR 7R L ft B % 46,958 - - - 46,958
Amount due to R —aRkRFE
a shareholder 226,169 - - - 226,169
Financial guarantee HBER 100,758 - - - 100,758
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Financial risk management (Continued)
3.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group monitors capital by reviewing the capital
structure. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt
and equity attributable to equity holders of the Company,
as shown in the consolidated balance sheet. The Group
considers the cost and the risk associated with the capital.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
issue new shares or conduct shares buy-back.

The Group maintains its gearing ratio within the reasonable
range according to the Group’s strategy.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2018 and 2017 were
as follows:

3
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32 EXEREE

AEEEREAZRE AREASE
SEREEB 28T - BRABR
REHOR L SEBRRESRFE
ANHERMes - WHERRENEAR
BRMBUEE SR
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AEBRBHER  HAEEERN
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RoZ—\ER-F L5+ A
=t BZARAELENT -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E—+F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT F&T

Current portion of bank borrowings RITREKENERES 2 122,510 88,931
Bank borrowings RITEN 383,450 351,335
Amount due to a shareholder FER—Z AR FRIE 197,511 226,169
Total borrowings e 4aER 703,471 666,435

Less: Unrestricted cash and W DRREIRE R

bank deposits H|ITER (205,241) (300,060)

Net debt position B FREAN 498,230 366,375
Total equity HEmERR 1,727,269 1,743,357
Gearing ratio BEXRBRELE 28.8% 21.0%
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Financial risk management (Continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation
The Group has no assets and liabilities that are measured at
fair value at 31 December 2018 and 2017.

The carrying values of trade and other receivables, bank
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables approximate their fair values due to their short
maturities. The carrying values of variable rate borrowings
approximate their fair values as the impact of discounting
using the relevant rate is not significant.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

3
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land
lease payments related to power plants in the
Mainland China

The Group tests whether property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets, prepaid land lease payments and interests
in associates engaged in the renewable energy businesses
(“Renewable Energy Projects”) have suffered any impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount may not be recoverable in accordance
with the relevant accounting policies. The Group reviews
certain indicators of potential impairment such as operating
performance, actual electricity dispatched, tariff of electricity
and other general market conditions.

If an indication of impairment is identified, the need for
recognising an impairment loss is assessed by comparing
the carrying amount of the assets, to the higher of (i) the fair
value less cost to sell, and (i) the value-in-use of the cash-
generating units. The value-in-use of the cash-generating
units represents estimated future cash flows from the
continuous use of the assets, and requires complex
assumptions and estimates such as future electricity
dispatched, tariff of electricity and discount rates. The
discount rates used to discount the estimated future cash
flows are based on the relevant industry sector risk premium
and the gearing ratio.
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4 Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(a)

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, intangible assets and prepaid land
lease payments related to power plants in the
Mainland China (Continued)

During the year, the Group has performed impairment
assessment on the Renewable Energy Projects. The value-
in-use calculation was based on the key assumptions,
including (i) average annual tariff increment at approximately
2% (2017: 2%) based on management’'s expectation on
market development and general inflation, and (i) Projection
of volume of electricity dispatched based on the operational
feasibility reports and historical performances. The pre-
tax discount rates applied to the cash flow projections are
11.69% —12.27% per annum (2017: 11.43%-11.84%).

Based on the impairment assessment, the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units are higher than their
respective carrying amounts.

Judgement is required in the area of impairment. If there is
a significant adverse change in the key assumptions, it may
be necessary to have an impairment charge to the income
statement.

With all other variables held constant, if there is an average
annual tariff reduction at 1% (2017: 1%) throughout the
operating period, the recoverable amount would be less
than the carrying amount by HK$2.6 million (2017: HK$5.3
million). Similarly, with all other variables held constant, if
the volume of electricity dispatched is 10% (2017: 10%)
less than management expectation, the recoverable amount
would be less than the carrying amount by HK$20.8 million
(2017: HK$24.7 million).
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FOEREEEBEMSERRE
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(ZZ—+F :2%) 2 EEIEIF :
R)VRIEZEITERE MBER
B RAEMGzEEE - BANIEA
EmERAZEAREREGE
11.69% £12.27% ( — T —t 4 :
11.43%%11.84%) °

RBRENE  REELBEMZA
WEeESRERBREE

R E SISV FIET o MBIRERR
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2HHMERZ -

EABEEMEHEERTEZBR
T W EEFHASFEHEER
BA1%(ZF—EF 1 1%) » AJ
[B] & 58 % 4> 7 BR T {8 2,600,000 7
TT(=Z—+%F : 5,300,000/ 7T) °
B - FEFTE E i B BT
ZERT MR EEREEBES
P1I0%(ZF—CF 1 10%) © ATl
5] & %8 4 > 1A BR [E118.20,800,0007%
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4

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(Continued)

(b) Useful lives and residual value of property, plant

and equipment

Management of the Company and its subsidiaries determine
the estimated useful lives, residual value and related
depreciation charges for its property, plant and equipment.
This estimate is based on projected wear and tear incurred
during power generation. This could change significantly
as a result of technical renovations on power generators.
Management will adjust the estimated useful lives where
useful lives vary with previously estimated useful lives.
It is reasonably possible, based on existing knowledge,
that outcomes within the next financial year that are
different from current assumptions could require material
adjustments to the carrying amount of property, plant and

equipment.

(c) Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in Hong Kong and the
PRC. Significant judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The Group
recognises liabilities for potential tax exposures based on
estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will affect the income tax and deferred tax provision in the

period in which such determination is made.

(d) Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group's past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions and

inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.

4
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5 Revenue and other income 5

The amount of each significant category of revenue and other
income recognised during the year is as follows:

RERNERZEEBR Wa MEMUIALRE
Rl &M

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHBT TET
Revenue =

Sales of electricity BHEE 149,496 131,343

Other income Hiug A
Value-added tax refund HERIR T 6,516 6,514
Others Hib 70 5,805
6,586 12,319

Sales of electricity were all generated by the wind power plants
and a distributed solar project of the Group. The Group has a
single reportable segment which is renewable energy segment.
As the Group does not have significant material operations
outside the PRC, no geographic segment information is
presented.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group's revenue for
reportable segment from external customers of HK$149.5 million
(2017: HK$131.3 million) is only attributable to the China market.

For the year ended 31 December 2018, the Group has two
customers with revenue exceeding 10% of the Group's total
revenue (2017: two customers). Revenues from the customers
amounted to HK$95.7 million and HK$49.5 million (2017: HK$85.0
million and HK$46.3 million) respectively.

ENHEDREAKEZRANEEU R
DHAAGEERE - AREES — @R
2RO A BERREDE - AARE
BAETBERIILEBERNEE  HHFZ
S IR EREHYL o

BE_T—)\F+_-_A=+—8I%F
B AEBEREIINABTFPZAIERFDE
I #& 4149,500,000 8 T (—ZF — 4 ¢
131,300,000/ 7T) * EREFRETS °

BHEeE-_ZTZ—N\F+-_A=+t—HIHE
B AEEBEMEREF(ZE—tF
MEB R ) BT (h 5 fR 8 2N & (3] 48 Y 2
210% c REZSEEFPZ2WED A
95,700,000, 7T 5&49,500,000/8 L ( ==&
—-+4 : 85,000,000/ 7T 546,300,000/
JT) °
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6 Expenses by nature 6 RRHEESZzZEX
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Auditor’s remuneration ZE AN &

- Audit services — Bz 1,531 1,494

- Non-audit services — IEEAERIE 410 615
Amortisation of prepaid land lease TEf i A & Sk 58 (MIRE15)

payments (Note 15) 1,109 1,074
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) iz &E# S (MiET16) 734 435
Depreciation of property, plant and YIE - WIS NGB E

equipment (Note 13) (FF3E13) 74,897 70,068
Net exchange loss M 1855 4,151 715
Employee benefit expenses EERMAZ(BRIEEEMSE)

(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 9) (Ft=E9) 19,377 17,987
Operating lease rental KEHERS 1,617 1,285
Repair and maintenance expenses HIERRERY 5,111 2,287
Corporate expenses ERAT 972 1,081
Legal and professional fees P EYEE g 788 1,427
Management service fee BEREE 1,106 1,106
Other expenses HEmAx 15,510 11,412
Total cost of sales and SHEN AN RITEE 425

administrative expenses 127,313 110,986
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7 Finance income and costs 7 HBRARBERA
2018 2017
—E-)N\F —ET—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Finance costs: BB
— interest expenses on bank borrowings —IRITIER A BHE (26,590) (26,738)
— interest expenses on amount due to — R —BIREFIE A
a shareholder (Note 28) 7z (FfzE28) (9,870) (6,169)
(36,460) (32,907)
Less: amounts capitalised (Note) B BENMez 2B 7,767 420
(28,693) (32,487)
Finance income: FEWA
— interest income on bank deposits —RITFERFEUA 3,183 2,645
Finance costs — net BB A — R (25,510) (29,942)
Note: Hiet -
The capitalisation rate used to determine the amount of borrowing costs to be AREER FEMNMEMERK AL ENERNMEFIER
capitalised is the weighted average interest rate applicable to the entity’ s general FRNZEE —REFTERNINELEIFNE AFEA

borrowings during the year, in this case 4.84% (2017: 4.05%). 4.84%(=F—+t%F :4.05%) °



116 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited
Annual Report 2018

NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year include three directors (2017: two) whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented in Note 32.
The emoluments payable to the remaining two (2017: three)

individuals during the year are as follows:

hTEREMEAL
AEE AEEALSRSFALBES
B(ZE—LF WMEB)ESE HEZH
SERMEI225 2 DT Kb o &4E
ERNERBRTRE(ZE—+&: =4)
ABALZBEIT :

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T 4
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT

Basic salaries, housing allowances, EXE ¢ -~ EEEE
other allowances and benefits in kind HAhZ B M E YRS 1,475 2,727
Bonuses TE4L 236 467
Retirement scheme contributions RRET BTN 130 148
1,841 3,342

The emoluments fell within the following bands: e EREITT -

No of individuals

A
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Emoluments band (in HK dollar) B Rl CEoT)
HK$nil — HK$1,000,000 T ITE 1,000,000 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 — HK2,000,000 1,000,001 T2
2,000,000/ 7T 1 2
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9 Employee benefit expenses 9 EEREANMEX
2018 2017
—B-\fF —F—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Wages, salaries and other benefits TE -  HE MHMER 17,025 15,763
(Reversal)/provision for unused annual leave  F{FFRER2 (BE), B (64) 119
Pension costs — defined contribution plan RIRS A — ERBHFETE
(Note a) (Hiita) 2,416 2,105
19,377 17,987
Notes: Hfet -

The Group's contribution to the employee pension scheme in the PRC is at
a percentage in compliance with the requirements of respective municipal
governments. The Group also participates in the MPF scheme under the
Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance.
The MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its
employees are each required to make contributions to the scheme at 5% of
the employee’s relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 with effect from 1 June 2014 (HK$25,000 before 1 June 2014).
Contributions to the scheme vest immediately.

Contributions totaling HK$28,000 (2017: HK$27,000) were payable under the
MPF scheme at 31 December 2018.

AEERTERESRASEEL 2 EHRTD
RBEEATBRNAREZBD RIEH - X56E
TRIBEE SRR EE TN AZES
EEKOERE 2 EBIRMAESE - BE
S ERBEBUGTEATEZ EEHEIGEN
FTEl - BIFRESHE - BEEXRIEBHAR
RBIESHBRAZE% T EELER - #E
B Z 8RR A R A30,000/8T(H —Z—00
EXNA—BER)(ZZE—mENA—BZH
£25,0008 7T ) o Mt EIVEL Z K ANEE 5
% o

R-Z—N\FE+-A=+—8 BERES
STEIZE T X 254 28,0008 T (=F
—+4F : 27,0007T) °
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10 Income tax expense

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profit for the years ended 31 December
2018 and 2017. Mainland China income tax includes corporate
income tax which has been provided on the estimated assessable
profits of subsidiaries operating in the Mainland China at a rate of
25% (2017: 25%). Withholding tax was provided for undistributed
profits of certain subsidiaries and associates in the PRC at a rate
of 5% or 10% (2017: 5% or 10%).

10 Fr8Ri
HRAEEHE T N\ER-_T—+
FH+-_A=Z+—ALFEIERRHE
o M ERBBFEHIELEE - R
Bl KPEFTST (BIEREMBR) RBH
B A PSS B AR 2 et R E
F o m25%(—F—+F : 26%) 2T =K
EH B - BB EBRETHEKBA
BIREBEENRZ R D IRER - 1R5% 3¢
10% (= ZF—+4F : 5%810%) 2T RIE
B o

2018 2017

—E-NF —T—+tF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET THET

Current income tax BIEAFT1S AR (1,703) (1,082)
Withholding tax on dividends BRARE Z T (7,850) (9,201)
Deferred income tax credit, net (Note 25) EAEFT 1S F 558 (M 5E25) 240 919
Income tax expense FriSiisz (9,313) (9,364)

Note:

The share of income tax expense of associates amounting to HK$20.5 million (2017:
HK$19.7 million) is included in the Group's share of profits less losses of associates.

FE(RES & QR Z 8B 1 A20,500,0008 7L (=&
—-+4F : 19,700,000% 7T) JhaT A AN B 2 AR B &
AR FRUESE
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10 Income tax expense (continued) 10 FrE8ixdH®)
The tax on the Group's profit before income tax differs from the REBPABHRANGERN < FIE - EERAH
theoretical amount that would arise using the taxation rate of the B AERERAEFRE 2 EHGHRE L=
PRC as follows: IR
2018 2017
—E-N\F Tt
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBT
Profit before income tax Fr S8 Al s A 72,266 70,314
Less: Share of profits less losses of B (B E AR
associates pil b Ei=! (69,007) (67,580)
3,259 2,734
Tax calculated at the tax rate, 25% #25% (ZF—+F : 25%)2
(2017: 25%) MEHEZHIE (815) (684)
Effect of different tax rates TRF R & 2,544 1,879
Expenses not deductible for taxation purpose ~A] 1% 2 F 52 (3,377) (2,977)
Income not subject to tax BERTL WA 578 529
Utilisation of previously unrecognised A FERER 2 HRIBEE
tax losses 1,175 1,922
Withholding tax on dividends and undistributed BN &) KB A G2 A #
profits of associates and subsidiaries i B2 IR AAR D B F)E (9.418) (10,033)

Income tax expense FriSiisz (9,313) (9,364)
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11 Earnings per share 11 SRER

(a) Basic (a)
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during

X
FREABNITIRBEANR B EER
BARIEENRAFADETER
B2 IR P9 BETE

the year.

2018 2017
—E-N\F —ET—tF

Profit attributable to equity holders of — ZNA E#EZEIEHA AFE(S HT
the Company (HK$ thousand) (F%5T) 62,254 60,330

Weighted average number of EEITE B 2 T8
ordinary shares in issue (thousand) (F5) 2,450,873 2,359,216

Basic earnings per share SRRERZF(FREN)

(HK cents per share) 2.54 2.56

(b) Diluted (b)
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
In 2018 and 2017, the warrants are assumed to have been
converted into ordinary shares. The number of shares
calculated as below is compared with the number of shares
that would have been issued assuming the exercise of

BE

BREERNTERAERTES
IR T RERATE #
BEEERROEEL MR -
REZZE-NFR-ZT—tF AWK
BERRE AR AEER - TXH#
BTG R#E BERRABRE
ERITEMARERIT RN EE &

warrants. 1TELER o
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
Profit attributable to equity holders of A &lHEzE 5B A FE(L 5T
the Company (HK$ thousand) (F#5T) 62,254 60,330
Weighted average number of BRI TSR 2 R g £
ordinary shares in issue (thousand) (FB%) 2,450,873 2,359,216
Adjustment for: AT RIEFAZE -
— Assumed conversion of warrants — R R R
(thousand) (F) 1,207 11,647
Weighted average number of ordinary R T B GARE SR H 2 TiE
shares for diluted earnings per share R hn#E 19 8 (FA%)
(thousand) 2,452,080 2,370,863
Diluted earnings per share SREERF (ZREN)
(HK cents per share) 2.54 2.54
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12 Dividends 12 KRE
2018 2017
—E-NEF T —t5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Interim dividend paid, of HK0.4 cents EIREFHAR S
(2017: HKO0.3 cents) per ordinary share FHE A 0.478
ZE—F  0.38) 10,025 7,094
Final dividend proposed, of HK0.4 cents BORESRHIAR B
(2017: HKO.4 cents) per ordinary share FRERA0.478 1
ZE—F  0.480) 10,025 9,459

On 20 March 2019, a final dividend of HK0.4 cents per ordinary
share payable in cash in respect of the year ended 31 December
2018 is proposed by the Board and the amounts are not
accounted for until they are approved by the shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. As the
proposed final dividend is declared after the balance sheet date,
such dividend is not recognised as liability as at 31 December
2018.

On 23 August 2018, the Board has declared an interim dividend of
HKO.4 cents per ordinary share payable in cash, total of HK$10.0
million was paid in September 2018.

For the year ended 31 December 2017, a final dividend of HKO.4
cents per ordinary share payable in cash, total of HK$10.0 million
was paid in June 2018.

RZT—AE=A=+H ESEE3
EKEBE_T-)/\F+_A=t—HL
FERMEE  BREBRARL04
Bl - BEBRRRAR R ERERRBF
REEHE - ARFRE 2 REIRE =
EEEABRARER  MAIHE=F
—NF+ZA=+—HmAa%E-

RZZE-NFNAZ+=H EHEE
AR - KRR EFRE AR
Y1l - £5710,000,0007T - ER=F
—NFEAAXN -

HE-_T—+tF+-A=1+—HLHF
B REBRSERERAR0.47E(L 2 R
i% & - A£5110,000,000/87C ° ER =
—NEFERAZS -
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13 Property, plant and equipment

13 W% - WBERRE

Electricity Furniture,
utility plant fixtures and Motor
and others  equipment vehicles Total
B £EBR \
RER R HAb B RE @5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHTT FHIT FHETT
At 1 January 2017 R-ZE—t&—-H—H
Cost AR 1,268,186 1,060 1,040 1,270,286
Accumulated depreciation and ~ ZEHHITE RFHE
impairment (357,741) (765) (927) (359,433)
Net book amount REFE 910,445 295 113 910,853
Year ended 31 December 2017 BZ=-Z—t&+=A
=t—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FHRREFE 910,445 295 113 910,853
Currency translation differences [} 0 & 258 68,789 31 20 68,840
Additions NE 504 305 295 1,104
Transfer from construction in EBEEETRE
progress 873 8 - 881
Disposal & - (12) - (12)
Depreciation e (69,926) (94) (48) (70,068)
Closing net book amount FREREFE 910,685 533 380 911,598
At 31 December 2017 R=ZF—t&+=A
=t+—H
Cost AR 1,369,592 1,445 1,010 1,372,047
Accumulated depreciation and ~ ZEHHTE RHE
impairment (458,907) 912) (630) (460,449)
Net book amount REFE 910,685 533 380 911,598
Year ended 31 December 2018 HZ=-Z—N\E+=A
=t—HLEFE
Opening net book amount FHREFE 910,685 533 380 911,598
Currency translation differences B} iHE =5 (44,319) (49) (26) (44,394)
Additions INE 7,174 793 335 8,302
Transfer from construction in EBEEETE
progress 24,938 - - 24,938
Depreciation Giik (74,488) (240) (169) (74,897)
Closing net book amount FIREREE 823,990 1,037 520 825,547
At 31 December 2018 R=-Z2-NE+=A
=t+—H
Cost A 1,331,039 2,093 1,263 1,334,395
Accumulated depreciation and  ZEHITE RFAE
impairment (507,049) (1,056) (743) (508,848)
Net book amount REFE 823,990 1,037 520 825,547

Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group's
property, plant and equipment with carrying values of HK$789.6
million (2017: HK$900.8 million) (Note 23).

=T |

ERTHAAKEKREE

789,600,000 & 7T ( = & — + F
900,800,000/ 7T) 2 & TH % - #e5 &
RiBTEE M (KHFE23) -
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14 Construction in progress 14 EEIRE
Total
et
HK$'000
BT
At 1 January 2017 R-—E—+F—H—H 7,319
Currency translation differences R E =5 1,735
Additions nNE 29,282
Transfer to intangible asset EREmRTEE (1,366)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment EEB Y BE N (881)
At 31 December 2017 R-E—+F+=-_HA=+—H 36,089
At 1 January 2018 R-—E—N\F—H—H 36,089
Currency translation differences b R E AR (14,224)
Additions NE 324,077
Transfer to property, plant and equipment Y R NEE (24,938)
At 31 December 2018 NZZE—-NE+=—A=+—8 321,004
15 Prepaid land lease payments 15 FE{TLibFEER
Total
st
HK$'000
AT
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—HF—H 12,089
Currency translation differences iR =R 910
Amortisation By (1,074)
At 31 December 2017 RZFE—+F+=HA=1+—H 11,925
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\FE—H—H 11,925
Currency translation differences iR %R (559)
Amortisation e (1,109)
At 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F+_A=+—H 10,257
Certain bank borrowings are secured by certain of the Group's EFHRATEZFIITHAANEEBERE®E
prepaid land lease payments with carrying values of HK$7.2 7,200,000/ 7T ( — & —+4 : 8,500,000
million (2017: HK$8.5 million) (Note 23). BIT) 25 TIEN i FR & FER 38 (B

£23) o
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Intangible assets

16 EFEE

Computer Concession
software right Total
E e KT st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THIT T
At 1 January 2017 R=Z-tF-A-H
Cost B 753 182,544 183,297
Accumulated amortisation and ZEEELIE
impairment (556) (178,684) (179,240)
Net book amount REFE 197 3,860 4,057
Year ended 31 December 2017 HE-_E—tE+-A=t+—-HL
FE
Opening net book amount FUREFE 197 3,860 4,057
Currency translation differences ERHEESE 72 290 362
Additions NE 42 - 42
Transfer from construction in progress ~ EEEZTRE 1,366 - 1,366
Amortisation g (68) (367) (435)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 1,609 3,783 5,392
At 31 December 2017 R-E-+&+=-A=1+—-H
Cost R 2,251 196,979 199,230
Accumulated amortisation and S EERRE
impairment (642) (193,196) (193,838)
Net book amount REFE 1,609 3,783 5,392
Year ended 31 December 2018 BE-E-N\E+-A=+-AHLt
EE
Opening net book amount FUEMFE 1,609 3,783 5,392
Currency translation differences B MmE = (78) (176) (254)
Additions INE 210 - 210
Amortisation b3 (354) (380) (734)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 1,387 3,227 4,614
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\E+=ZA=1+-H
Cost BN 2,355 186,978 189,333
Accumulated amortisation and ZEHBERRE
impairment (968) (183,751) (184,719)
Net book amount REFE 1,387 3,227 4,614
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17 Interests in associates 17 RBEQT2ER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—iF
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR TAT
Group's share of net assets AEEEEEETE 884,894 931,364
The following financial information, after making adjustments TH M BER (ERAENAAEF TS S
to conform with the Group's significant accounting policies, S sE — ) AN [E A L E(E A N )
represents the Group's aggregate share of assets, liabilities, (2 AEFTRATZEE B -
revenue and results of associates, all of which are unlisted, and is WS R edE - IR
summarised as below:
2018 2017
—E2-N\F —E—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TAT
Assets BE 1,420,289 1,646,092
Liabilities BfE (535,395) (614,728)
Net assets BEFE 884,894 931,364
Revenue W25 213,811 205,620
Profit for the year AEE @A 69,007 67,580

Particulars of the associates are set out on page 154. BN A2 FFIEENE 1548 o
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17 Interests in associates (Continued) 17 REEE QT ZERE)
Set out below are the summarised financial information for the B E B AR E B N T 2 B S E R
associates of the Group. it o
Summarised income statement B R
For the year ended 31 December B2+ -_A=+—HIFE
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power ~ CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
TERERENRE(RY)  PEERREHRE(RL) AR (HE)
ARAR BRAR BA%EARAR @t
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-\f Bt ZE-\E ZR-tF ZE-N\F 3t ZE-\f B tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tén ThL Tén T Thn Th T ThL
Revenue e 214,300 204,107 108,739 110,741 238,674 226,887 561,713 541735
Other (expenselfincome  E£ft (5% ) /YA (52,948) (38,889) 542 (17,007) (24,288) (9,706) (76,694) (65,602)
Depreciation and ERES
amortisation (80,646) (78,060} (47,598) (46,053) (83,440) (80,255) (211,684 (204,368)
Finance costs - net HERE-F8 (17,162) (21,141) (13,300) (15,335) (19,009) (20,580) (49471) (67,056
Current income tax expense & HBFT/ERI i (22,377) (22,830) (11,883) (7.918) (19,873) (20,437) (54,133) (51,185)
Deferred income tax credit  ELFIEHAS 6,775 6,561 - - 5,137 4,975 11912 11,536
Profit for the year TERGF 47942 49,748 36,500 2,428 97,201 100,884 181,643 175,060
Other comprehensive ~~ HA2E(EE) /A
(loss)fincome (49,910) 73,751 (21513) 30456 (49,963) 74,999 (121,386) 179,206

Total comprehensive 2E(BR)/ &%
(loss)/income (1,968) 123499 14,987 h4,884 47238 175,883 60,257 3h4,266

Dividends declaredby ~ BERRAIERZRE
associates (25,981) (27.257) (6,693) (7.450) (36,400) (48257) (69,074) (82,964)
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17 Interests in associates (Continued) 17 REEENTI2ER(E)
Summarised balance sheet EEASEREM
As at 31 December Rt+-_A=+—H
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
PEEERRARE(RY)  PERAEEIRE(RL) hEEER(HE)
BRAF ARAF BAZEERAA @it
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
“E-N\f  ZE3-tF CZE-\f ZB-tfF ZE-N\§ ZE-tf CZE-\E ZE-tf
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn Thn T#n Tin TiEn Fian TiEgn Thn
Non-current assets FrBEE 1,231,063 1,396,968 611,126 685,885 1,261,361 1,430,438 3,103,550 3,513,291
Current assets TEEE 279,667 251133 106,266 119,021 240,586 183,011 626,519 553,165
Total assets EESE 1510730 1,648,101 717,392 804906 1501947 1613449 3,730,069 4066456
Non-current liabilities EFTIEL 73,485 84,257 221,120 287,880 55,478 63,632 356,683 435,769
Current liabilities FHAER 504,055 563,734 81,706 101,736 473,399 532,986 1,059,160 1,198,456
Total liabilities BELE 577,540 647,991 309,426 389,616 528,877 596,618 1415843 1634225

Net assets BESE 933190 1,000,110 407,966 415,290 973,070 1,016,831 2314226 2432231




128 China Renewable Energy Investment Limited

Annual Report 2018

NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ma

17

WBBENE
Interests in associates (Continued) 17 REE QAR 2HER %)
Summarised balance sheet (Continued) EERERBM (&)
The information above reflects the amounts presented in the FHERREE RN R R EREZE
financial statements of the associates adjusted for any fair value TeRE  HEEEREL ZEANATE
adjustments made at the time of acquisition. FAEMIAE ©
Reconciliation of the summarised financial information presented NEBNREBENREREDERY 2
to the carrying amount of the Group's interests in its associates: B TS E Rt i Bk
CECIC HKC Wind Power CECIC HKE Wind Power ~ CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind
Company Limited Company Limited Power Company Limited Total
PEREREARE(RY)  DERAREARE(EL) HERAR(ER)
ARAR ARAR BAREARAR @t
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
ZE-\f ZB-tF ZE-\§ B-tF ZE-\f CB-tF ZE-\f C—B-tF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T Thr Thn Thr Thn ThI Tén Thr
At 1 January n—A-A
Opening net assets EEEYE 1000010 975 415200 38541 1006831 961560 2432231 209157
Profit for the year TEERR 47,942 49,748 36,500 24,428 97,201 100,884 181,643 175,060
Other comprenensive 2 (E8) /WA
(loss)/income (49,910) 73,751 (21,513) 30,456 (49,963) 74,999 (121,386) 179,206
Dividends k& (64,952) (68,146) (22,311) (24,835) (90,999) (120,641) (178,262) (213,622)
At 31 December Rt-A=t-H
Closing net assets EREESE 933,190 1,000,110 407,966 415,290 973070 1016831 2314226 2432231
Reporting entities' share ~ BFA SRR B
in% 40% 40% 30% 30% 40% 40%  NATER  NANER
Group's interests in SERBENEZER
associates 373,216 400,044 122,390 124,588 389,228 406,732 884,894 931,364
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18 Prepayments, trade and other receivables 18 FAMRK - FEURARF R H it FEU K
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt e FExT FHT
Non-current IERED
Prepayments TR (b) 16,654 155,001
Other receivables H At EUGR (c) 43,095 11,410
59,749 166,411
Current TED
Trade receivables FEUBR R (@) 61,247 17,176
Prepayments and other receivables B3k & H b e U sk (c) 143,739 100,554
204,986 117,730

264,735 284,141
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18 Prepayments, trade and other receivables

18 TN - BRI R H bW

(Continued) (4%&)
Notes: Hiat -
(a) The ageing analysis of trade receivables by the Group's revenue recognition (a) RER @ IWAREBUREERBERE D 2 EW
policy at year end was as follows: BRFRERECHITIAT -

2018 2017

—E-N\F —E2—+F

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Less than 30 days LHA30H 25,711 17,176

More than 30 days and within 60 days HBA30H1BR60H RN 6,326 -

More than 60 days and within 90 days B0 HE0HA 6,371 -

More than 90 days HBiE90H 22,839 -

61,247 17,176

The ageing analysis of trade receivables by invoice date at year end was as

follows: (Note i)

RER  REFZAHE D 2 RBERHIREK D

e « (Afat i)

2018 2017

—E-N\F —ZT—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Less than 30 days LHA30H 24,898 15,029
More than 30 days and within 60 days HBA30H1BR60H A 6,656 2,147
More than 60 days and within 90 days B0 HE0HA 6,424 -
More than 90 days HBiE90H 23,269 -
61,247 17,176

Note i:

Hat i

The Group allows a credit period of 30 days to its trade customers. Based on
the credit history of the customers, it is expected that the amounts will be
received eventually. They are related to a number of independent customers
for which there is no recent history of default. The Group does not hold any
collateral in relation to these receivables.

FEERNEESEFRHAHBOAZEER
o RIBEPZERRLHE  MHZEFRAR
B gIREl - %% IR B H I M R AT 8
ZETBURFER - AEEWESE HZ
FRUERRAE B (R HE IR G o
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18 Prepayments, trade and other receivables

(Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(b)

(c)

The balance includes prepayments of HK$16.7 million (2017: HK$154.0
million) for purchase of wind farm’s equipment for the relevant construction
work.

Included in other receivables were input value-added taxation recoverable of
HK$49.4 million (2017: HK$18.4 million) arising from purchase of property,
plant and equipment and dividend receivables from associates of HK$125.5
million (2017: HK$78.5 million).

The carrying amount of the Group's prepayments, trade and other receivables
is denominated in the following currencies:

LREEARAT 131
—2— )\

18 TR - BRI H ft FE K
(#&)
Wizt - (&)

(b)) HHPEREEREEIERERNIES
15 % 4 216,700,000 7T ( = 8 — 4 -
154,000,000/ 70 ) FEEX ©

€ FAHMEWRZAATEKINEBEER
49,400,000/ 7T ( =& — 4 : 18,400,000
BIr) c WREBEME - MERSE - RE
Lz Bt 4% 2 B A% B.125,500,0008 7T ( — T —+
4 : 78,500,000757T) °

(o) ARETENK - REUERR R E A e YGR 2 iR
EENA T EHEHE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Hong Kong dollars BT 469 384
Renminbi AR 264,181 283,669
Singapore dollars EIE 85 88
264,735 284,141

All prepayments, trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying
value of each class of receivables mentioned above.

A bank borrowing is secured by certain of the Group’s trade receivables with
carrying values of HK$25.6 million (2017: HK$4.4 million) (Note 23).

@) FTEBNK - BUIRF R EMGEKRY &S
SREEE RBERHEERRZEE
A LR S IBRIEYGR 2 BREE

SR 4718 R Ty B AN 5 B AR {5.25,600,000 7% 7T
(ZZ—+% : 4,400,000/87C) 2 & T REIKER
ARIEE R (I EE23) -
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19 Short-term bank deposits 19 TEHIRITER
As at 31 December 2018, the short-term bank deposits with RZE—N\F+-_A=1+—H ' BRI
original maturities of more than three months are denominated in iR =18 A8 R BARITFERAB TR
Hong Kong dollars. The interest rate on the deposits is 2.69%. As B FHRAER269% - R —+tF
at 31 December 2017, there were no short-term bank deposits +-—A=+—8 " MERIHEBBE=
with original maturities of more than three months. & A AR HASRI T -
20 Cash and cash equivalents 20 RERFSEEY
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Cash at bank and in hand IRITRFHERE 99,729 132,357
Bank deposits with original maturities of REEE DR =8 AH
less than three months IRITIER 64,247 167,703
163,976 300,060
Less: Restricted cash (Note) W ZREIIRE () (2,391) -
161,585 300,060
Note: Hfet -
The amount represents cash at bank of RMB2.1 million due to ongoing construction ZeEERITHS ARY2,100,0007T © JhHRE S
work of Songxian. The balance is subject to regulatory restrictions and not available HWEEERTIRE - ZESRIEERVIER T —NF
for general use before the completion of the construction which is expected to be in TERATERZIE R TIRRI N O] FE— MR AR

2019.



FRBARRIRERRAR 133

—TN\FEH
NOTESTOTHE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HEMBHRRMT
20 Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 20 REakBREEEWE)
2018 2017
—E-N\F T —t5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT T
Cash and cash equivalents and RehkBReEEBML
restricted cash ZREERE
(@)  Placed in banks in the PRC: (@) FHPAFRBEEIRTT
— denominated in Renminbi —AAREEHE 52,197 90,052
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars — LB TTEHE 36,786 36,820
— denominated in US dollars —AETTEHE 1,828 2,602
(b)  Placed in banks in Hong Kong: (b) FHREBZIRT
— denominated in Hong Kong dollars — LB TTEHE 63,805 170,024
— denominated in Renminbi —AARKERHE 9,208 416
- denominated in Singapore dollars — DA I3 TETHE - 2
(c) Cashin hand (c) FHEE& 152 144
163,976 300,060

The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as

REERZBEBREMEMT -

follows:
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$ RMB HK$ RMB
BT AR BIT AR
Bank deposits with original  REHIH DR =1E A&
maturities of less than RITIER 2.40%- 1.05%-—
three months 2.68% 3.04% 1.81% -

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the
carrying value of the cash and bank balances stated above.

Significant restrictions

Cash and cash equivalents of HK$90.8 million (2017: HK$129.5
million) are held in the Mainland China and are subject to local
exchange control regulations, under which the balances could not
be exported freely out of the Mainland China. The repatriation of
fund out from the Mainland China is possibly conducted by way of
dividends or other means as complied to the regulations.

RBER - R ZEERBRA XA
R MRITHRESZREE -

ERRH
RPBAERFRAENREMASEE
#) 90,800,000 & jt ( = T — + £
129,500,00078 7T ) 78 & & & H SME &
BE - Bt ZFERTFEAELT
BARE - B2 EBREHEMETR
FEH) T3 A TR BIARE o
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21 Share capital 21 B
Ordinary shares of
HK$0.01 each
FREEI.IIEBTZEER
Number of
shares HK$'000
RHEE FHT
Issued and fully paid: BEREITRER
At 1 January 2017 RZZE—+F—H—H 2,356,371,843 23,564
Exercise of warrants (Note) ITERRRHAERE (HaE) 8,320,601 83
At 31 December 2017 RZZFE—+F+-A=+—H  2,364,692,444 23,647
At 1 January 2018 n—E—NF—H—H 2,364,692,444 23,647
Exercise of warrants (Note) 1T RARAERE (HaE) 141,465,020 1,415
At 31 December 2018 R-E—)N\E+-_A=+—H 2,506,157,464 25,062

Note:

On 19 May 2017, the Company issued 471,274,368 bonus warrants (Warrant
Code: 1677) on the basis of one bonus warrant for every five existing shares of the
Company held by the shareholders (“Bonus Warrants 1677"). The holders of Bonus
Warrants 1677 are entitled to subscribe at any time during 19 May 2017 to 18 May
2018 for fully paid shares at a subscription price of HK$0.230 per share (subject to
adjustment). For the year ended 31 December 2018, 141,465,020 (2017: 8,320,601)
new ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each were issued upon the exercise of 141,465,020
(2017: 8,320,601) units of Bonus Warrants 1677. The outstanding bonus warrants

were lapsed on 18 May 2018.

Bt -

RZT—+tERAA+NA  ARARRBEBREFENE
FARIR B AR AT — (D AL R RARAE & (GRAREE N
5% 0 1677) 2 EEAEEITAT1,274,368 (0 AT IR AL HERE
(A FRARERE 1677 ) o AL FIRAREE 16774 B A
BRER-_Z—+tFRATABEE_Z—N\FRATN
A HAR (el B DA R BB (B T AR AR 19 0.2304 7T (7] T 78
B)RBEHMERD - HE-_T—N\FE+-A=+—8
IEEEE 0 141,465,0208% (= Z—+4F : 8,320,6014%)
BREEO.01B T 2 #TE BN 141,465,02017 (=F
—+t4F : 8,320,601 ) ALF R MEE 1677 1T (£ BF
BT o MARITEZAFRAREZFER =T —\FAHA
EACES &
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22 Reserves 22 f#E
Share Exchange Retained
premium reserve earnings Total
B RE R REEF #@st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHT FTAT FET
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—tF—-F—Bz&# 892,905 (57,685) 707,409 1,642,629
Currency translation differences B {8 =%
- subsidiaries —HBAR - 55,446 - 55,446
- associates N - 68,637 - 68,637
Dividend paid BERRE - - (7,094) (7,094)
Exercise of warrants TERREE 1,831 - - 1,831
Profit for the year REE N - - 60,330 60,330
Balance at 31 December 2017 W_ZE—+F+-A=1+—8H
& 894,736 66,398 760,645 1,721,779
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZZE—-\F—-A—Hz&H 894,736 66,398 760,645 1,721,779
Currency translation differences  [E & =5
- subsidiaries —MBAT - (45,197) - (45,197)
- associates =N - (46,403) - (46,403)
Dividend paid BREE - - (20,049) (20,049)
Exercise of warrants 1TERIAEE 31,120 - - 31,120
Profit for the year REREH - - 62,254 62,254
Balance at 31 December 2018 R-E-NE+=-A=1+—H
LEER 925,856 (25,202) 802,850 1,703,504
23 Bank borrowings 23 RITER
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Non-current B 383,450 351,335
Current i) 122,510 88,931
505,960 440,266
Amounts of HK$181 million (2017: HK$259 million) of bank 4 #0181,000,000/8 T (=& — £ F :
borrowings issued at variable rates are secured and guaranteed by 259,000,000/8 7T ) 1 F B A K 2547 2 iR
fellow subsidiaries. TERETER - YhARNBA R

PEiR o
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23 Bank borrowings (Continued)

23 BITRERGE)

Notes: Mz -
(a)  The maturity of bank borrowings at the balance sheet date is as follows: (a) REEHRITERZEEBNT ¢
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Within one year —FR 122,510 88,931
In the second year FE-F 97,510 102,761
In the third to fifth year FE=FEFRF 183,224 197,157
After the fifth year A& 102,716 51,417
505,960 440,266
() The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following (b) 2 BREEIR 5 S’ THE -
currencies:
2018 2017
—E-N\E —T—tF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FAT
Hong Kong dollars BT 25,000 -
Renminbi AR 480,960 440,266
505,960 440,266
(c)  The effective interest rate for variable rate bank borrowings at the balance () FEMERITERREEBZERMNER
sheet date was 4.67% (2017: 4.90%). The effective interest rate for fixed rate 467E(=F—+HF : 4.90[F) - EEFIERIT
bank borrowings at the balance sheet date was 6.30% (2017: 6.30%). ERREREECBRAMER6.30E(ZE—+
F : 6.30[F) °
(d) Bank borrowings are secured by certain property, plant and equipment, (d) BITERTDUAAEBEE TWE - BB KRR
prepaid land lease payments and trade receivables of the Group (Notes 13, 15 & - T8 1 b E B R P W AR SR B (P =
and 18). 13~ 15}%18) °
(e) The Group had undrawn borrowing facilities mainly for project development (e) R-ZE—NE+-_A=+—8 AE@EzX
purpose amounted HK$299 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017: HK$509 12 B f& 3% AR & 28 4 299,000,0008 7L (=&
million). —-+4F :509,000,000/87T) * EEAMNIER 2
B
(f) The fair value of the fixed rate bank borrowings as at 31 December 2018 (f) RZZE—NE+-A=+—8  BEM=XRE
is HK$129 million (2017: HK$157 million). The carrying amounts of the TE K2 A F1E A129,000,0008 L (= F
remaining bank borrowings approximate their fair values. —+4F :157,000,000/87T) ° #2 NIRTTfETRZ
EEEREEATEES -
(@  The exposure of the Group's borrowings to interest rate changes and the (@ RESHRASEEBREDUMNEESHZE

contractual repricing dates or maturity (whichever is earlier) at the end of the
reporting period are as follows:

B AHNEFTEEASKIHA(UREES
EVAT ¢

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—+tF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FAT

6 months or less ~MEASATR 297,108 157,836
6-12 months NE+-EA 90,519 129,546

387,627 287,382
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24 Amount due to a shareholder

The amount due to a shareholder is unsecured, interest bearing at
3.5% per annum over one-month Hong Kong Interbank Offered
Rate on outstanding amount and was repayable on demand. The

balance is denominated in Hong Kong dollars.

25 Deferred income tax liabilities

The analysis of deferred income tax liabilities is as follows:

PEFLERABRAT 137
—B—\FER

24 Bf—BREKIE
N —RBRERRAREER - A—@EA
FBRITRIFEF B3 5EFHXGFR (R
REEFIR) - UWBREREE - 8REA
FBTTAHE °

25 EEFSHAER
BIEFREHAEAINMT :

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBT

Deferred tax liabilities: BRIEFIIEAE -
- To be recovered after more than 12 months  — #7+ —{ A &k [El 24,369 24,630
- To be recovered within 12 months — ¥R+ @A Ak E 6,901 8,142

31,270 32,772
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25 Deferred income tax liabilities (Continued) 25 EIELEFFBHRERESE)
The movements in deferred income tax liabilities during the year REER @ ELEEREEZEEIT -
are as follows:
Fair value
adjustment
arising from
business Withholding
combinations tax Total
REEBLEHZ
DRERE BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FAT FHIT
At 1 January 2017 RZT—tF—HF—H (1,232) (30,286) (31,518)
Currency translation differences fEHIREERE (42) (2,131) (2,173)
Credited to the profit or loss EEERTAIE0)
(Note 10) 305 614 919
At 31 December 2017 RZFB—+F+-A=1t—H (969) (31,803) (32,772)
At 1 January 2018 RZZE—-\$—HA—H (969) (31,803) (32,772)
Currency translation differences (B e =% 8 1,254 1,262
Credited/(charged) to TEEERAA (X8)
the profit or loss (Note 10) (KEE10) 315 (75) 240
At 31 December 2018 RZE-N\F+ZHA=+—H (646) (30,624) (31,270)

The Group did not recognise deferred income tax assets of
HK$19.2 million (2017: HK$21.6 million) in respect of losses
amounting to HK$78.7 million (2017: HK$89.2 million) that can be
carried forward against future taxable income. These tax losses
have no expiry dates except tax losses of HK$76.0 million (2017:
HK$86.4 million) which will expire at various dates up to 2023

(2017: 2022).

7K £ [ 37 £ 3t &5 48 78,700,000 7% 7T ( =
T —+ 4 1 89,200,000 7T ) fE 3R IE KT
Fff 15 7 & B 19,200,000/ 7L ( — T —+
4 : 21,600,000 7T ) F UA 45 8 4K 85 B
B IERTUA o 25T IH B 18 I & E A
FRHA - 176,000,000/ L( =& —£4F :
86,400,000/ 7T ) 2 BiTEE BRI B R E =
ZEI=F(ZE—+tF 2T F)
W2 R B E8fE o
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26 Trade and other payables 26 FEAFBRAREMESR
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Trade payables JETBR X 513 552
Payables for acquisition and construction of GBS LERWE  HEER
property, plant and equipment B ANEN 48,355 30,232
Other payables and accruals HibENR N EETE B 14,339 16,174
63,207 46,958

The ageing analysis of trade payables by invoice date at year end

RER - REZAHE D 2 BANERRE

was as follows: BTN
2018 2017
—E-NF —ET—+tF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Less than 12 months PR+ @A 441 53
12 months and more +=-@A KRN 72 499
513 552

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade and other payables are
denominated in the following currencies:

REE 2 AR R AR RE

BEIRATE®IIE

2018 2017

—EB-N\E TR

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Hong Kong dollars BT 2,397 2,427
Renminbi AR 60,787 44,485
Singapore dollars T 23 46
63,207 46,958
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27 Commitments 27 EIE
(a) Capital commitments (a) EAEIE
Capital expenditure at the balance sheet date but not yet REEHEAERHMREELEZER
incurred was as follows: BT :
2018 2017
—E-N\F —F—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Contracted but not provided for capital B2 ] 4B kgt AR BAELLR
expenditure in respect of renewable THE 2 BRI B
energy projects 283,431 503,166
(b) Commitments under operating leases (b) ERKEHEET 2&E
The aggregate future minimum lease payments under non- RIEH T RAEF 2 Tl BEs
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings HEHEERREN 2 HIEHES B
were as follows: NN
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
No later than 1 year —FR 1,218 429
Later than 1 year and —FRERFA
no later than 5 years 1,432 250
Later than 5 years HFIE 5,902 -

8,652 679




NOTESTO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

28 Related party transactions
The Group entered into transactions with the following related
parties for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017, in
addition to those disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements.

(a)

(b)

(c)

Administrative services fee, which includes the office
overhead, and reimbursement of cost of internal audit, legal
and information technology department of HK$1.1 million
(2017: HK$1.1 million) was paid to the HKC. The fee was
charged based on the terms mutually agreed.

Office rental of HK$0.6 million (2017: HK$0.6 million) was
paid to the HKC. Besides, rooftop rental of HK$0.4 million
(2017: Nil) was paid to the Huzhou Nanxun International
Building Market Center Company Limited, which is a
subsidiary under HKC. The fee was charged based on the
terms mutually agreed.

During the year, interest expenses on amount due to a
shareholder amounted to HK$9.9 million (2017: HK$6.2
million) with an outstanding interest expense payables
of HK$2.5 million as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
HK$6.2 million).

On 23 January 2017, the Company entered into a loan
facility agreement with Creator Holdings Limited (a company
indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. OEI Kang, Eric), under which
the Company might borrow up to HK$300 million until 31
December 2018. The terms of the loan are set out in Note
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

The above related party transactions are continuing connected
transactions exempt from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange.

28
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BEL RS
BHE_Z2—\FE_F—tF+=A
=+—HIEFE  BREEMBEHRREM
EEFTHREEIN - ANEE B E TS
RN 2R °

(a) MBEBEIXIMNITHRRIEER -
BERAELEEAR  UWRER
NEEFT - ERREMBHEER
A 751,100,0008 L ( Z & —+4F :
1,100,00087T) - HERAERIEE
75 R 2 AR UER °

(b) MEBERLZ PIAZFEE600,000
BIL(ZZ—t%F : 600,000/7T) °
LN - [AIESERE B R B
MNEESEEEMBARARXNE
JEFH £ 400,000 T(Z T —+H 4 :
T) HEARREEFXRSET
Z M URER o

(c) RAFE - BEN—RBREFKIEF
B 49,900,000 (—T—+
F : 6,200,000/7T) c EFR=F
—NE+-B=+—8BEMZH
BRI 52,500,000 T (ZE—+
£ : 6,200,000 7T) °

R-ZE—+F—F=-+=H " K
AEHEAZEEEFR AR (ZAA
MERLAEREEZERE)IVE
REEE  BEE T N\E+=
A=+—H XARAABEARS
300,000,0007& 7T ° B 3 Z &7
R E MRz 24 -

LB A RS BRIBH R FTE S LR
BT EmRAI)E14A33 G AR EER R
BTHBRE  FESZ - AMMARET
PR ERTE 2 ERER S -
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28 Related party transactions (Continued) 28
(d) Key management compensation
Key management solely represents directors of the
Company. The compensation paid or payable to key
management is shown as below:

AR T R 5 (42)
(d) EEBEEASZHMH

TEERABERAATES B
NN EEEA S 2 EE5]
o

2018 2017

—E-N\F T+

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Directors’ fees EETika 765 765

Salaries and other benefits e REMmER 2,702 2,619
Pension cost — defined contribution RIRE KA — E B ETE

scheme 54 54

3,521 3,438

(e) As at 31 December 2018, the Group provided guarantee to
a counter party in respect of a credit facility granted to an
associate of HK$82.0 million (2017: HK$100.8 million).

(f)  During the year ended 31 December 2018, an aggregate
of 120 million new shares were issued to HKC upon the
exercise of warrants, at the subscription price of HK$0.23
with the total gross proceeds of HK$27.6 million.

The transactions did not constitute a connected transaction as
defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

(e)

(f)

R-ZB—NFE+-_A=+—H ' &
SE—MBE AR ERZEZER
& [m) ¥ JE 77 1R ¥ 1R 82,000,000%
7L (=Z—-+£4F : 100,800,000 %
JT) °

Hz-_Z-\F+=-—A=+—H
IEFE  BEEREREEBER
0.23BTLITIERRERE - & AT
120,000,000 A% T A% 17+ FRIA4REE
/527,600,000 7T °

BERARZAIER EHRANE14AZ IR
EZAER S -
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29 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement 29 SZEBEESREBRME
(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash (a) FTIEBANRRIELERMESRE
generated from operations ZH R
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHBT
Profit before income tax Fr 4S5 A& A 72,266 70,314
Finance costs AR 28,693 32,487
Finance income U (3,183) (2,545)
Depreciation and amortisation PTE S 76,740 71,577
Gain on disposal of property, HEYE - e R
plant and equipment Frisiias - (43)
Share of profits less losses of FEAGESE = 2 B M RUE 18
associates (69,007) (67,580)
Operating profit before working capital %38 & & & & A 2 &&= 7
changes 105,509 104,210
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERLEm 1,863 (2,589)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other  FEUZER 7 K2 H b E U X
receivables (), w (71,634) 62,828
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other  FETBE 3% & ELfth E < 3K
payables Bn S CRld>) 21,258 (2,200)

Cash generated from operations LEFTRIRE 56,996 162,249
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29 Notes to consolidated cash flow statement
(Continued)

(b)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

29 ZERERERMFE®)

(b) MEZDELENEBEHR

Liabilities from financing activities

METBHREEE
Amount
Bank due to a
borrowings shareholder Total
EA—%
BITER B RFIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHIT FHIT FHL
As at 1 January 2018 RZZE—N\F—H—H (440,266) (226,169) (666,435)
Cash (inflows)/outflows - principal, net  B]|E£GRA),/ i
— K& (95,961) 25,000 (70,961)
Cash outflows — interest payment Re&mnt —FBMAR - 13,528 13,528
Capitalisation and amortisation of RITEEBRANERE
upfront fee for bank facility fee, net M - FRE 6,704 - 6,704
Foreign exchange adjustments PE R E) IR 23,563 - 23,563
Accrued interest expenses FEX HEHRE - (9,870) (9,870)
As at 31 December 2018 RZZE—N\F
+=—A=+—H (505,960) (197,511) (703,471)
As at 1 January 2017 W_E—+F—H—H (465,432) - (465,432)
Cash outflows/(inflows) Wemb,GRA)
— principal, net . | 60,798 (220,000) (159,202)
Capitalisation and amortisation of RITEEBRANERE
upfront fee for bank facility fee, net FgksE - JFRE 730 - 730
Foreign exchange adjustments b R F B R (36,362) - (36,362)
Accrued interest expenses FBE X HEHE - (6,169) (6,169)
As at 31 December 2017 RZZE—+F
+=ZA=+—AH (440,266) (226,169) (666,435)
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30 Financial instruments by category

30 RERE S 2EMTA

Financial assets
at amortised cost

REBERAFTEZ
SREE
HK$'000
FHBT
Assets as per consolidated balance sheet RGEEEABERFIREE
31 December 2017 —E—+F+=-A=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 18) JE U AR 3R B B sk (Bd=E18) 129,140
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) Re& MRS FEY (FEE20) 300,060
Total Sy 429,200
31 December 2018 —EZ—)N\F+-A=+—H
Trade and other receivables (Note 18) FEUS AR FR B B e Y sk (BI=E18) 248,081
Restricted cash (Note 20) 2R HE 2 (F13F20) 2,391
Short-term bank deposits (Note 19) G ARRRI TR (MI3E19) 43,656
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) Re kReEFEW(HFE20) 161,585
Total BT 455,713
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
REBERATEZ
SREE
HK$'000
FBT
Liabilities as per consolidated balance sheet RGSEEEBRAITER
31 December 2017 —E—+F+-HA=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) RITIEFR(HIEE23) 440,266
Trade and other payables (Note 26) JE BRI E At FE A 3R (B 7E26) 46,958
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) e — BB R FE (Fi5E24) 226,169
Total 45T 713,393
31 December 2018 —E-N\F+—A=+—H
Bank borrowings (Note 23) RITER(FIEE23) 505,960
Trade and other payables (Note 26) FEITBR SR R EAth AT SR (B9RE26) 63,207
Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) JEN — BRI KIA(MI7E24) 197,511

Total

N
et

766,678
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31 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 31 XARIEEEBRRFEEES
Company
Balance sheet of the Company APBEERER
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—tF
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
o5t FET T
ASSETS BE
Non-current asset IEmENEE
Interests in subsidiaries NIEYNGIPA 10,915 11,499
Current assets REEE
Other receivables Hi ek 395 307
Amounts due from subsidiaries FELB B R R 5RIE 1,430,569 1,407,580
Cash and cash equivalents RENRREEEY 116,262 169,121
_Totalcurrentassets ~~~ wBEE&® 000000000000 1547226 1,577,008
Total assets EERE 1,558,141 1,588,507
EQUITY FEm
Capital and reserves attributable &R FEFIFEA
to equity holders of the EBhREARGFE
Company
Share capital &N 25,062 23,647
Reserves #E a 1,063,927 1,089,919
Total equity A 1,088,989 1,113,566
LIABILITIES afE
Current liabilities mEIEE
Amounts due to subsidiaries FET B A TIFIA 245,200 247,442
Amount due to a shareholder FER—ZRRE I8 197,511 226,169
Other payables H e R 1,441 1,330
Bank borrowings RITER 25,000 -
_Total current liabilities ~~~~ mBAfe®s @000 469,152 474941
Total equity and liabilities EzRkEERHE 1,558,141 1,588,507
OEIl Kang, Eric LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel
=i 2y Fe
Director Director

EF EE
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31 Balance sheet and reserve movement of the 31 XATEEEBRRFESES &)
Company (Continued)
Note (a) Reserves movement of the Company MizE(a)d~ D FFEEE
Other
Share Exchange reserve Retained
premium reserve (Note) earnings Total
RAERE EHGRE (H) REEF k]
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT AT TAT TAT
Balance at 1 January 2017 RZE—t5-A-Hz
E% 892,905 (48,022) 98,709 151,491 1,095,083
Currency translation differences B AE£% - 91,663 - - 91,563
Dividend paid BARE - - - (7,094) (7,094)
Exercise of warrants E R 1,831 - - - 1,831
Profit for the year REREF - - - (91,464) (91,464)

Balance at 31 December 2017  RAZE—+F+=-A=1—H

R 894,736 43,541 98,709 52,933 1,089,919
Balance at 1 January 2018 RZE-\F-A—-Br&H 894,736 43,541 98,709 52,933 1,089,919
Currency translation differences  [E i AE 248 - (59,052) - - (59,052)
Dividend paid BERRE - - - (20,049) (20,049)
Exercise of warrants E A EE 31,120 - - - 31,120
Profit for the year REDEF - - - 21,989 21,989
Balance at 31 December 2018~ R=E—-\E+=-A=1+—H

R 925,856 (15,511) 98,709 54,873 1,063,927

Note: The other reserve of the Company related to an acquisition prior to 1 January it AREZz HbEERE T —F—A—HA

2001 and continues to be held in reserves. 2—AWEEEAR  WEEBEREETR -
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32 Benefits and interests of directors and chief

executive officer

The remuneration of every director and the chief executive office

is set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2018

32 EERTHRARZENRES

BEENTHRARNFHIIT

BE-_T— \F+-A=+—HLLFE

Employer's

contribution to

a retirement

Discretionary benefit
Name of Director Fees Salaries* bonuses* scheme* Total

BiRectEz
BEfZ e 2 Higfear R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TR TEL TR THET
OFI Kang, ric* LN 75 1,139 133 18 1,365
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samugl PR 75 647 76 18 816
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy EER 75 633 74 18 800
YU Hon To, David MER 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan BE) 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi R®IEE 180 - - - 180
765 2419 283 54 3,521
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32 Benefits and interests of directors and chief
executive officer (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2017

149

32 EERITHARZENRER®)

HE_Z—+HF+_A=+—HILFE

Employer's
contribution to
a retirement
Discretionary benefit
Name of Director Fees Salaries* honuses* scheme? Total
BRestale
BEY ik Hd 2R EE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhEL T THL TEL ThL
OE! Kang, Eric* il 75 1,128 94 18 1315
LEUNG Wing Sum, Samuel AR 75 633 85 18 81
WONG Jake Leong, Sammy R 75 627 52 18 772
YU Hon To, David mER 180 - - - 180
TIAN Yuchuan SES]! 180 - - - 180
ZHANG Songyi RIEZ 180 - - - 180
765 2,388 231 54 3438
e Mr. OEI Kang, Eric is the chief executive officer of the Group * EEERREE 2 ITBAER
# The amounts represented emoluments in respect of services provided & HeBARTHEEARNRAISENE R AN

in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company or its
subsidiaries undertaking.

During the year, no housing allowance, other benefits and
remunerations in respect of accepting office as director were
paid to or receivable by the directors in respect of their services
as directors (2017: same). During the year, no emoluments were
paid or receivable by the directors in respect of director’'s other
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2017: same).

EBARESR TRERGHHH -

AEER  BEEERBEEERGE
S SR R - E A B RS
(ZF—£% : ERIAR) - AEERN -
BREERAERARARLHEA
RS TR 2 B BB B 1 o 1 B
S(=F—LF : ERIER) -
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32 Benefits and interests of directors and chief
executive officer (Continued)

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

Directors’ retirement benefits

During the year, no retirement benefits were paid to or
receivable by the directors in respect of their services as
directors of the Company and its subsidiaries or other
services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company or its subsidiary undertaking (2017: same).

Directors’ termination benefits

During the year, no payments or benefits in respect of
termination of directors’ services were paid or made,
directly or indirectly, to the directors; nor are any payable
(2017: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services

During the year, no consideration was provided to or
receivable by third parties for making available directors’
services (2017: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year, there are no loans, quasi-loans or other
dealings in favour of the directors, their controlled bodies
corporate and connected entities (2017: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 23 “Bank borrowings” and
Note 28 “Related party transactions” to the consolidated
financial statements, the transactions with HKC and its
subsidiaries and in which Mr. OEI Kang, Eric was interested,
no significant transactions, arrangements and contracts
in relation to the Group's business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year or at any time during the year.

32 EERTHASZEBINRER#E)

(A)

(B)

(C)

(D)

(E)

ESRAKER

RERR  BEEEHETARA]
MEMBARESTIREELAAF]
SHEMBEARFEH M 2 HEA
AR7 A REUCRARB A (= F
—LtF  BERAER)

EEBRRERN

NEER  BERKEEERSEMH
HEIHERES A ELEMR
KRBT INEAE(TE R R
T F )

MENEZERBEMEAFE=FX
FZRE

RNEER - BERERESERS M
ENEZARE=ZFREKZKE
ZE—tF |

BELUES - B2 ZEEE
EREAEEERZHACE
o EERRAEMRZ 2ER

REERN BELNER EFZX
ZHEE N AEERAYBAZE
R EERIEHMRZ(ZF—+
FE)

EENXRS  Z¥HEaNH2
BERERE

BiArR e B TS TR R M 523 [ SR1TE 5K
KMiGE28 B D R 5 IR EE
B 7 1 R e EL Y I ) A B )
EERERHERDZIRHIN A
AATERAKEXRGARAES
REFERIEEREFENELRS
MRAFRERFINAFEAE
MEEFENEARS  RHRE
] e
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TEMBARRBE QT
TRENEEARUAEEMEER X
BEFEEBRIBRZEZNB LR R

33 Principal subsidiaries and associates 33
Listed below are the subsidiaries and associates which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affect the result and/or net

assets of the Group. EWNETID
Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity  Principal activities registered capital capital held
HMAL SRk BRITRE/ frisgs/
&8 EEEREL TEER BAEMER BAEMESEDL
2018 2017
“B-N\E CTtF
Subsidiaries
HEA
China Renewable Energy (Nanxun) Limited Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
PEEELR(EE)BRAA £/ REER iy
China Renewable Energy (Services) Limited Hong Kong Human resources HK$1 100% 100%
management
HEELER(ER)ERAR B4 ANERER TR
China Renewable Energy (Songxian) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
Limited*
HEBERR(ES)ERAR: i/ HHE REAER 1T
HKC (Linyi) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
B () BERER AR B/ REEHR 187
HKE (Da He) Holdings Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
ERIaR (KM BRER AR &/ REER 18T
HKE (Danjinghe) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$4 100% 100%
ATk (ERT)ESEARAR B/ HE RAER 4T
HKE (Gansu) Wind Power Limited* Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1 100% 100%
AR (HB) R BRAR! i/ RAER 1T
Hong Kong New Energy (Si Zi Wang Qi) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$2 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited*
BRI B AR AR B/ REEHR 28T
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33 Principal subsidiaries and associates (Continued)

33 XEMBEARAREBE QT ()

Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity  Principal activities registered capital capital held
HMAL/ EEnER BRITRE/ frisgs/
£ AEEREL TEXH BEAEmER EAZRMERRIL
2018 2017
ZE-N\F ZE—tf
Subsidiaries
WEAR
Hong Kong New Energy (Si ZiWang Qill)  Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$1,000 100% 100%
Wind Power Limited*
EEMER(NTIE_M)BMBRAR &4 REER 1,000%7C
Sinoriver International (Wind Power) Hong Kong/PRC Investment holding HK$20 100% 100%
Limited*
H)IIER(RE) BB AR &8/ HE REER 2087
HKE (BVI) Limited* British Virgin Islands  Investment holding USs$1 100% 100%
BEFERBV)EBRLR: EBRRAS REEHR (E
HKE (Wind Power) Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands  Investment holding US$1 100% 100%
EaTak(AE) BRERAR RERTES REER Es
HKE Danjinghe (BVI) Wind Power Limited*  British Virgin Islands  Investment holding US$1,000 100% 100%
BEMERERT BV AR RBRAEE REER 1,000%7
Sinoriver International Limited* British Virgin Islands/  Investment holding USs$1 100% 100%
PRC
IERERD R EBANES/TE  RAER (E
APC Wind Power Pte Limited* Singapore Investment holding SGD10 100% 100%
G REEHR 108 T
Asia Wind Power (Mudanjiang) Company ~ PRC/ Sino-foreign Wind power project in HK$100,000,000 86% 86%
[td.* equity joint venture  Heilongjiang, the PRC
EHRNEE(HAT)ARAR: RE/PHAELE WPEREIZEAE 100,000,008

BEF
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33 Principal subsidiaries and associates (Continued) 33 FEMNBARIREE QT (&)
Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity  Principal activities registered capital capital held
HMAL SR BRITRE/ frisgs/
£ EEEREL TEER BAEMES BEAEMESEDL
2018 2017
“E-N\FE ZE—tF
Subsidiaries
HWEAR
Hong Kong Wind Power (Muling) Co. Ltd.*  PRC/ Sino-foreign Wind power project in HK$150,100,000 86.68% 86.68%
equity joint venture  Heilongjiang, the PRC
BERNEE(BK)BRAF: RE/HNGELE RREIZEIZENE 150,100,000
B
BRMERN T R ERAR PRC wholly foreign-  Wind power projectin -~ RMB166,480,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
hENEEELE RPERRANFIE AR¥166,480,0007
ZENESER
AR e RN T A RR AR PRC wholly foreign-  Wind power projectin -~ RMB172,526,500 100% 100%
owned enterprise Siziwang Qi, Inner
Mongolia, the PRC
hEIEEELE RPERRLIEFIE AR¥1725265007T
ZENEEER
Songxian HKE Wind Power Limited* PRC wholly foreign- Wind power project in RMB174,000,000 100% 100%
owned enterprise Songxian, Henan,
the PRC
BEBEREERAR)N PENEEECE  NPETESHEZEN  AR¥174,000,0007
¥*EEA
Huzhou HKE Energy Limited* PRC wholly foreign-  Distributed solar project RMB15,000,000 100% 100%

MR RAR AR

owned enterprise

FESNEEEA LR

in Nanxun, Zhejiang,
the PRC

R EIRE 22 ARE15,000,0007
EWNCEAEE
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33 Principal subsidiaries and associates (Continued)

33 XEMBEARAREBE QT ()

Place of Issued
incorporation/ share capital/ Percentage of equity/
operation and Paid up Paid up registered
Name kind of legal entity  Principal activities registered capital capital held
AR/ EEhER BERTRA/ frisgs/
£ EEEREL TEEK BAEMER BAEMESEDL
2018 2017
—E-N\E ZE—+F
Associates
BeENT
CECIC HKC (Gansu) Wind Power Company  PRC/ Sino-foreign Wind power project in RMB589,620,000 40% 40%
Limited** equity joint venture  Changma, Gansu,
the PRC
R AR (HB RN EEERAR E/REELE RPEHEESCESN AR¥S89,620,0007T
EEVE
CECIC HKC Wind Power Company PRC/ Sino-foreign Wind power project in RMB545,640,000 40% 40%
Limited** equity joint venture  Danjinghe, Hebei,
the PRC
R BRE N EE (R AR A RE/ NG ERE  RRETIERTZE  ARK545,640,0007T
NEEHER
CECIC HKE Wind Power Company PRC/ Sino-foreign Wind power project in RMB323,260,000 30% 30%
Limited** equity joint venture  Lunaobao, Hebei,
the PRC
AR NS (R BRAR FE/RHNEELE  RPETLERECE  AR¥323,260,0007T
NEZIER
Remarks: e
* Interest held by subsidiaries + EmmfEAEEE
# Unofficial English transliterations or translations for identification purpose # FEERE TR BIRE - (EEER -

only.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
EEMBHBRE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
2\ —F—tf& TR —F-1f —T-QOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FAET FAET FET
Consolidated statement of RETHERRER
comprehensive income
Revenue W 149,496 131,343 130,998 132,919 97,334
Profit before income tax Fr{EBiAnE 72,266 70,314 64,980 45,021 14,883
Income tax expense FrSfi s i (9,313) (9,364) (6,834) (5,669) (1,922)
62,953 60,950 58,146 39,352 12,961
Profit for the year KEERF 62.953 60,950 58,146 39,352 12,961
Non-controlling interests RIS (699) (620) 2,952 1,102 1,501
Profit attributable RAREZRFIZBA
to equity holders of IR
the Company 62,254 60,330 61,098 40,454 14,462
Consolidated balance sheet HABERER
Net current assets TBEEFE 35,924 64,685 147,590 106,346 194,337
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,106,065 2,062,779 1,830,617 2,005,566 2,188,493
Non-current liabilities ERBEE (414,720) (384,107) (414,536) (504,946) (623,970)
Net assets including non- EEFERE
controlling interests R 1,727,269 1,743,357 1,563,671 1,606,966 1,758,860
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T FHBEBE
2018 2017 2016 2015 2014
—E-\E T+ F —T-RE  ZET-RF ZTWmF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx FHT TET TExT THT
Share capital e 25,062 23,647 23,564 23,564 26,564
Reserves @B 1,703,504 1,721,779 1,542,629 1,683,123 1,730,951
Non-controlling interests FER RS (1,297) (2,069) (2,522) 279 1,345
Total equity i 1,727,269 1,743,357 1,663,671 1,606,966 1,758,860
Earnings per share BRAF
— basic (HK cents) —EARGE) 2.54 2.56 2.59 1.72 0.61
Dividend per share FRERE
— attributable to the year —REEEEGEIL)
(HK cents) 0.4 0.3 0.4 Nil £ Nil
Return on total equity (Note) — HER@ELIRE(H5t) 3.64% 3.50% 3.72% 2.45% 0.74%
Note: Bt -

Return on total equity represents the current year's profit/loss for the year expressed as a  #EaSE5E O K AANFE % H], BB LB A FEE FRE
percentage of the closing total equity for the year concerned. =BB AN -
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